Annual Report
2019-20

ISSN: 1832-9713 (Print)
ISSN: 2208-7354 (Online)
© 2020 Copyright in this work is held by the Corruption and Crime Commission (the Commission).
Division 3 of the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth) recognises that limited further use of this material can occur
for the purposes of ‘fair dealing’, for example, study, research or criticism. Should you wish to make
use of this material other than as permitted by the Copyright Act 1968 (Cth), please write to the
Commission at the postal address below.
This, and earlier reports, are available at www.ccc.wa.gov.au.
Corruption and Crime Commission WA
Postal address PO Box 330
Northbridge Post Shop
WA 6865
Telephone
(08) 9215 4888
1800 809 000 (toll free for callers outside the Perth metropolitan area)
Facsimile
(08) 9215 4884
Email
info@ccc.wa.gov.au
Website
www.ccc.wa.gov.au
Twitter
@CCCWestAus
LinkedIn
Corruption and Crime Commission (Western Australia)
Office hours
Monday to Friday, 8.30 am to 5.00 pm
Special Needs Services
If you have a speech or hearing difficulty, contact the Commission via the National Relay Service (NRS) on 133 677
for assistance or visit the NRS website, www.relayservice.com.au. NRS is a free, national telephone service.
The Commission’s toll-free number is 1800 809 000.
If your preferred language is other than English, contact the Translating and Interpreting Service (TIS) for
assistance on 13 14 50. TIS provides a free, national telephone interpreting service available 24 hours a day,
seven days a week. TIS also provides on-site interpreters for face-to-face interviews by contacting 1300 655 082.
On request, this report can be made available in alternative formats for those with special needs.

Statement of compliance
Hon. Kate Doust, MLC
President of the Legislative Council
Parliament House
4 Harvest Terrace
West Perth WA 6005

Hon. Peter Watson, MLA
Speaker of the Legislative Assembly
Parliament House
4 Harvest Terrace
West Perth WA 6005

Dear Ms President
Dear Mr Speaker
In accordance with the Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act 2003 s 91(4) I am pleased to
present the Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20. This report has been
prepared in accordance with the Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Act 2003 s 91 and the
Financial Management Act 2006 s 61(1).
This report provides a comprehensive overview of our activities over the past financial year.
It presents our audited financial statements and key performance indicators for the year
ended 30 June 2020.
Yours sincerely

Scott Ellis
ACTING COMMISSIONER
24 September 2020
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“The best part of my role is that
I can make a real difference
and contribute to making
meaningful change in the
public sector for the benefit
of all Western Australians.”

Contents
1. Commission overview

04

Acting Commissioner’s report

05

The year at a glance

07

Significant achievements

08

About us

10

Operational structure

13

Performance management framework

18

Significant issues impacting the Commission 21

2. Profile of serious misconduct

22

Assessing allegations of serious misconduct

23

Overview of serious misconduct allegations

26

Uncovering serious misconduct

29

3. Responding to serious misconduct

32

Taking action to expose and disrupt serious
misconduct

33

Investigations

37

Oversight of appropriate authority actions
and investigations

46

Helping prevent WA Police Force misconduct 49

5. Unexplained wealth function
Unexplained wealth

6. Disclosures and legal compliance

64
65

67

Independent Audit Opinion

68

Certification of Financial Statements

70

Providing information to independent
agencies and appropriate authorities

52

Financial Statements

71

Proposals for legislative changes

53

Notes to the Financial Statements

79

4. Building capacity

54

Working together to develop public
sector capacity

55

Reports and recommendations

58

Cooperating with integrity bodies

62

Covert powers inspections

63

Key Performance Indicators

108

Other disclosures

112

Governance disclosures

117

Other legal requirements

117

Government policy requirements

119

Simple explanations of key terms used are
provided at the back of the report.

Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20 | 03

1

Commission
overview

1

2

Profile of serious
misconduct

3

Responding to
serious misconduct

Commission
overview

04 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20

4

Building
capacity

5

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of serious
misconduct

3

Responding to
serious misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

Acting Commissioner’s report
Although I have been the Acting Commissioner of the Corruption
and Crime Commission since 1 July 2016, this is my first annual
report. In past years, the Hon John McKechnie QC held office
as Commissioner.
Commissioner McKechnie’s term of appointment ended on
27 April 2020. The current lack of a full time Commissioner is
regrettable. It creates uncertainty for the Commission.
Commissioner McKechnie was a very effective and highly
respected Corruption and Crime Commissioner. I was very pleased
to collaborate with him on the important work of the Commission.
I have also benefited greatly from the support and skills of the
talented and committed team forged by the Commissioner, the
Chief Executive, Ray Warnes, and the Commission’s directors
during his term.
The Commission has conducted very high profile and significant
investigations this year.
We initiated, with the WA Police Force, an investigation into a
senior public officer at the Department of Communities. He was
subsequently charged with 520 counts of corruptly obtaining more
than $22 million. Charges have also been laid against three other
individuals. This investigation is ongoing.
Another ongoing investigation that has received considerable
public interest involves the misconduct and corruption risks
relating to $7.5 million in annual electorate allowances paid to
Members of Parliament.
This year the Commission held 56 days of examinations, five of
which were public examinations.

Behind the headlines, and the examinations, we have continued
to see an increase in public confidence in reporting serious
misconduct.
There was a rise in the number of allegations received, with
5,743 allegations received, up from 5,036 allegations last year.
About 45% of allegations came from members of the public.
The Commission assesses every allegation it receives.
In some cases, the material provided to the Commission does
not enable the Commission to form a reasonable suspicion
of serious misconduct or police misconduct, so no further
action is warranted. Where there is material which leads to
a reasonable suspicion of misconduct, the Commission
may refer the matter to the relevant agency for investigation
and action.
Public sector agencies and the WA Police Force have primary
responsibility for investigating and addressing misconduct by
their officers. The Commission monitors those investigations
and, in appropriate cases will actively oversee,
or supervise, the conduct of the investigation.
Where necessary, the Commission may take over
the primary agency’s investigation.
This year we referred 1,450 allegations to public
sector agencies (including to the WA Police Force)
for action. This is about a quarter of all allegations.
Our oversight team monitors or reviews the action
taken to ensure the authority is accountable
for dealing with the matter. Where matters are
referred for active oversight, the Commission may
report privately to the primary agency concerned
about the investigation process and outcome.
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This year, the Commission produced a total of 43 Commission reports, many of which
were provided directly to public sector agencies at the conclusion of a Commission
investigation or following a review of a public authority’s investigation. Our reports
frequently reveal a lack of checks and balances, or flawed systems or processes and
our reports make recommendations on anti-corruption and misconduct lessons for
individuals, the private sector and public authorities. Our recommendations suggest
greater transparency, greater accountability and the need for better governance –
they are the enemies of corruption.
The Commission actively uses the new unexplained wealth powers conferred on the
Commission to recover for the State the financial benefits of serious misconduct and
of organised crime.
I would also like to recognise the former Parliamentary Inspector of the Corruption
and Crime Commission, the Hon Michael Murray AO QC, who sadly passed away
this year. Mr Murray was the Parliamentary Inspector of the Corruption and Crime
Commission for over seven years, and we appreciated and welcomed his oversight.
The work of the Commission during 2019-20 was all the more remarkable because
the latter part of the year brought with it the operational constraints caused by the
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. Commission staff responded admirably to the
pandemic, maintaining the momentum of the Commission’s work while working
remotely and observing COVID-19 precautions.
The Commission has a very talented team with strong leadership that does great
work exposing corruption and serious misconduct. All team members are committed
to improving the integrity of the Western Australian public sector.

Scott Ellis
ACTING COMMISSIONER
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The year at a glance
Building
capacity

Profile of serious
misconduct

Responding to
serious misconduct

We received

We conducted

We delivered

notifications/reports

investigations

reports

We assessed

We referred

We made

2,968

5,743

allegations

See pages 22 – 31

59

1,450

allegations for action

See pages 32 – 53

43
5

recommendations

See pages 54 – 63
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24

16

October

Public examinations
into allegations of
serious misconduct
and corruption in
relation to the use
of parliamentary
electoral allowances
> Read media release

Tabled the report
The implementation
of recommendations
arising from the
Commission’s
investigation into
Operation Aviemore –
a final report
> Read report

August

4

29

October

Anti-corruption
commissioners
unite to demand
public sector leaders
take integrity more
seriously
> Read communiqué

9

December

International AntiCorruption Day
> See pages 56 – 57

2019
5

July
Tabled the report
Abuse of power at
the Department of
Primary Industries
and Regional
Development
> Read report

19

September

Tabled the Report on
misconduct risks in
Health Support Services
and North Metropolitan
Health Service
> Read report
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24

October

Tabled the Review
of recommendations
made to Department
of Transport arising
from three reports
> Read report

14

17

November

December

The Commission and
WA Police released a
joint statement about
the charging of a senior
public officer from
the Department of
Communities and an
associate with corruption
> Read media release

Tabled the report
Misconduct risks in
electorate allowances
for Members of
Parliament
> Read report
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9

20

February

Tabled the Review of
recommendations made
following unauthorised release of
confidential information from the
Public Transport Authority
> Read report

April

Tabled the Further
review of the
WA Police Force
response to
an incident in
the lock-up of a
country town
> Read report

23

April

Tabled the Report into
misconduct risks with
access to confidential
information in the Office
of the Auditor General
> Read report

25

June

Tabled the Review
of recommendations
made to the
Department of Justice
from six reports
> Read report

2020
10-13

February

Public examinations to
review progress made
to reduce the risk of
serious misconduct in
WA prisons
> Read media release

2

April

Tabled the Review of an
inadequate investigation
by the Department
of Communities into
allegations of bribery
> Read report

20

April

Tabled the Review
of a WA Police Force
investigation into use
of force in respect
of a child
> Read report

18

June

Tabled the Final review
following an arrest
incident by Western
Australian Police at
Hamilton Hill
> Read report
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Integrity

Our values

Our purpose

We are committed to the
Public Sector Code of
Ethics and the values of
the Commission:

To expose and disrupt
corruption, serious
misconduct and organised
crime, giving the Western
Australian community
confidence that public
officers act in the public
interest.

Acting with care and diligence
– making decisions that are
honest, impartial, and timely and
in consideration of all relevant
information.

Relationships
with others
Treating people with courtesy,
sensitivity and recognising their
interests, rights, safety and
welfare.

Accountability

Our vision
A Western Australian
community and public
sector that actively
exposes and resists
corruption and a
community that is
free from organised
crime.

Using resources of the State in
a responsible and accountable
manner to ensure the efficient,
effective and appropriate use of
human, natural, financial and
physical resources, property and
information.

Leadership
Enabling and inspiring others to
make a difference.

Teamwork
Collaborating and actively seeking
the contribution of others.

10 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of serious
misconduct

3

Responding to
serious misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

Responding to allegations
• Receiving and assessing allegations of serious misconduct.
• Determining what action should be taken in respect of all serious misconduct allegations.

Conducting or overseeing investigations or actions
taken by public authorities

Our
responsibilities

• Investigating or taking other action.
• Monitoring investigations undertaken by appropriate authorities.
• Making recommendations and furnishing reports on the outcome of investigations.
• Consulting, cooperating and exchanging information with appropriate authorities.
• Assembling evidence admissible for prosecuting authorities.

Assisting public authorities to prevent serious misconduct
• Analysing information.
• Analysing systems used within public authorities.
• Providing information and making recommendations.
• Increasing the capacity of public authorities by providing advice.
• Reporting on ways to prevent and combat serious misconduct.

Identifying and confiscating unexplained wealth
Investigating whether a person has, or may have, acquired unexplained wealth or
a criminal benefit.

Assisting WA Police Force in relation to organised crime
Reviewing and enabling the use of exceptional powers; examining witnesses; approving
assumed identities; authorising and reviewing controlled operations; and considering
fortification notices.
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We proactively engage
with Western Australian
public authorities and their
officers, the media, and the
community.

Our
engagement

The Commission’s
external communications,
social media presence,
and media coverage
encourage members of
the community to speak
up and report suspected
serious misconduct to the
Commission.

1. Exposing and responding to
corruption risks in areas identified
as a priority within the public sector:
• People at risk;
• Procurement and financial management;
• Data and information;
• Policy, regulation and licensing;
• Use of force; and
• WA Police Force (noting the Commission’s specific legislative functions).
2. Developing partnerships and processes to receive and respond to unexplained wealth referrals.
Enabled by...
3. Enhancing the Commission’s systems, processes and workforce capability to enable it to remain
contemporary and effective.
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Operational structure
Legislation
The Commission was established on 1 January 2004 under the Corruption, Crime
and Misconduct Act 2003 (CCM Act). The Commission operates according to the
CCM Act to expose and reduce the incidence of serious misconduct (including
police misconduct) and organised crime. Under the CCM Act, the Public Sector
Commission is responsible for dealing with minor misconduct and educating the
public sector.
On 1 September 2018, the Corruption, Crime and Misconduct and Criminal
Property Confiscation Amendment Act 2018 took effect and the Commission’s
new unexplained wealth function commenced. It enables the Commission to
investigate unexplained wealth and criminal benefits, and to initiate and conduct
civil confiscation proceedings in the Supreme and District courts.

Other key legislation
Those statutes that have direct relevance to the Commission’s performance
of its statutory functions under the CCM Act include:
•Criminal Code Act 1913
•Criminal Investigation Act 2006
•Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act 2012
•Criminal Organisation Control Act 2012
•Criminal Procedure Act 2004
•Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000
•Evidence Act 1906
•Local Government Act 1995
•Police Act 1892

•Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
•Surveillance Devices Act 1998 (WA)
•Surveillance Devices Act 2004 (Cth)
•Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Act 1979 (Cth)
•Telecommunications (Interception and Access) Western Australia Act 1996
•Witness Protection (WA) Act 1996

External oversight
The Attorney General has administrative responsibility for the CCM Act and is the
responsible Minister for the Commission’s budget.
The Joint Standing Committee on the Corruption and Crime Commission, assisted
by the Parliamentary Inspector, oversees the Commission. The Hon Michael Murray
AO QC was the Parliamentary Inspector until his retirement on 31 March 2020.
The Hon John Chaney SC and Mr Matthew Howard SC continue to be the Acting
Parliamentary Inspectors.

Internal Risk and Audit Committee
In February 2020, the Commission appointed an independent chair of its Risk and
Audit Committee, Mr Des Pearson AO. Mr Pearson has more than 40 years public
service, including 21 years as the former auditor general of Western Australia.
The Commission has a Strategic Internal Audit Plan and undertakes quarterly
reviews of directorate and Top Commission Risks, as well as an annual review of
the enterprise risk management policy and plan.
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Commissioner1
Vacant at year-end

Acting Commissioner
Scott Ellis

Chief Executive
Ray Warnes

Director Assessment
and Strategy
Development2

Director
Operations

Director Legal
Services

Director Corporate
Services

Mary Brown

David Robinson

Wendy Endebrock-Brown

Emma Milne

The Assessment and Strategy
Development Directorate works
collaboratively across the Commission
and the public sector. The Directorate’s
three units are Assessments and
Enquiries, Oversight, and Strategic
Intelligence. The Directorate assesses
allegations of serious misconduct
(including police misconduct), it
monitors and reviews investigations
performed by public authorities and
it carries out strategic research and
analysis to inform Commission priorities.

The Operations Directorate manages
the Commission’s investigative
activities. The Directorate’s four units
– Investigations, Electronic Collection,
Digital Forensics and Investigation
Surveillance – work together to
proactively identify and investigate
allegations of serious misconduct
and reports of unexplained wealth. The
focus of the Commission’s investigative
activity is on systemic and complex
matters, many of which require the
use of specialist capabilities.
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The Legal Services Directorate
supports the Commission in the
performance of its functions under the
CCM Act, the Criminal Investigation
(Covert Powers) Act 2012 and the
Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000
by providing advice, representation,
training and leadership in relation
to all aspects of the Commission’s
operations.

The Corporate Services Directorate
ensures the delivery of high
quality corporate services to the
Commission. This includes human
resources, financial services,
information technology, information
and knowledge management,
occupational safety and health,
security and facilities services and
project management.

1 T he appointment of the Hon John McKechnie QC as Commissioner of the Corruption and
Crime Commission ceased as at 12.01am on 28 April 2020.
2 Ian Norcock was Director Assessment and Strategy Development until 30 April 2020.
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Senior officers
Figure 1: Corporate Executive

Commissioner
At year-end, the office of Commissioner was vacant

Acting Commissioner3
(David) Scott Ellis
Re-appointed Acting Commissioner on 10 July 2019 for a term of three years

Chief Executive
Ray Warnes
Re-appointed on 8 August 2020

Director Assessment and Strategy Development
Mary Brown
Appointed on 15 June 2020

Director Operations
David Robinson
Appointed on 18 August 2016
Back row (L-R): Wendy Endebrock-Brown, David Robinson and Emma Milne
Front row (L-R): Ray Warnes, Scott Ellis and Mary Brown
The Commission comprises four directorates and an Executive Office that
work collaboratively to maximise the impact of the Commission.
Together, the Commission’s senior officers form the Corporate Executive.

Director Legal Services
Wendy Endebrock-Brown
Re-appointed on 4 July 2020

Director Corporate Services
Emma Milne
Appointed on 5 September 2016
3 The Acting Commissioner is appointed to act in the office of Commissioner if there is a vacancy
or the incumbent is unable to perform the functions of the Commission.
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25

5

Secondments in

Level 6
Level 5

10

Level 4

15

Level 9

5

% of employees

Employees at the Commission /
127.1 Full-time equivalent

Level 8

134

20

Class 3 and Negotiated

Specified Callings 2 to 7

Employees across classification levels

Level 7

2

Level 3

Commission
overview

Level 2

1

0
Classification level

44.8%
Men

14.2%
Part-time

49.3%
25 to 44 years

55.2%
Women
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Diverse
backgrounds

Age profile

Working
arrangements

Gender

Median age
45 years old

85.8%
Full-time

7.5%
CaLD

0.7%
< 24 years

50%
45 years +
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“We nurture and inspire our

people through strong leadership,
learning and development
opportunities, a wellbeing
program, and flexible working
arrangements.”
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Performance management framework
Outcome-Based Management Framework
The Commission supports the State Government’s goal of ‘Strong communities:
Safe communities and supported families’ through a specific outcome, achieved
by the delivery of two services. The table below illustrates the relationship
between the Commission’s services, the desired outcome and the government

goal to which it contributes. The key effectiveness indicators measure the extent
to which the delivery of services contributes to achieving the desired outcome.
The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between the services
delivered and the resources used to produce the services.

Table 1: The Commission’s contribution to the Government of Western Australia’s Results-Based Service Delivery Goal

Government goal
Strong communities: Safe communities and supported families
Outcome

Services

Key effectiveness indicators

Key efficiency indicators

1

Number of allegations received

Percentage of assessments completed
within 28 days

Allegations as a percentage of people
employed within public authorities under
the Commission’s jurisdiction

Average cost of assessment

Number of investigations

Percentage of investigations completed
within 12 months

Number of reports published

Average time (days) to complete an
investigation into serious misconduct

Assessing all allegations of
serious misconduct received
The integrity of the public
sector continuously improves
and the incidence of
misconduct is reduced

2

Investigating allegations of
serious misconduct
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Actual results versus budget targets
To demonstrate accountability and stewardship of resources provided, the
Commission is required to explain variations between the annual financial
and key performance indicator targets, and actual results for the financial year.
The Commission’s actual results compared with its budget targets for 2019-20
are detailed in Tables 2 and 3.

The Commission did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2019-20.
Table 2: Financial targets – actual results versus budget targets

2019-20 Target (1)
$’000

2019-20 Actual
$’000

Variation (2)

Total cost of services (expense limit)
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

28,444

28,014

(430) (a)

Net Cost of Services
(sourced from Statement of Comprehensive Income)

28,404

27,751

(653) (b)

Total equity
(sourced from Statement of Financial Position)

25,236

25,631

395

(178)

170

348

17,554

17,032

(522) (c)

Financial Targets

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
(sourced from Statement of Cash Flows)
Approved salary expense level
(1) As specified in the Budget Statements.
(2) Further explanations are contained in note 8.10 ‘Explanatory statement’ to the financial statements.

(a) The variation is mainly due to delays in filling positions during the year and the original budget included additional expenses for leases under the
accounting leasing standard which ultimately did not eventuate. The savings were offset by increased costs for insurance and remote working
facilities as part of the Commission’s response to the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic.
(b) The variation is as per (a) above.
(c) The variation is mainly due to delays in filling vacant positions during the year.
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Table 3: Key performance indicator summary – actual results versus budget targets
2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

Number of allegations received

4,500

5,743

1,243

Allegations as a percentage of people employed within public authorities under the
Commission’s jurisdiction

2.30%

2.86%

0.56%

80%

84%

4%

$1,428

$720

($708)

Number of investigations

50

59

9

Number of reports published

40

43

3

Percentage of investigations completed within 12 months

80%

84%

4%

Average time (days) to complete an investigation into serious misconduct

350

241

(109)

Financial and non-financial targets

Variation (1)

Outcome 1: The integrity of the public sector continuously improves and the incidence of misconduct is reduced.
Service 1: Assessing all allegations of serious misconduct received
Key effectiveness indicators:

Key efficiency indicators:
Percentage of assessments completed within 28 days
Average cost of assessment
Service 2: Investigating allegations of serious misconduct
Key effectiveness indicators:

Key efficiency indicators:

(1) Explanations for variations between target and actual results are presented in the audited key performance indicators.
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Significant issues impacting the Commission
Unexplained wealth
The Commission has had the power to investigate unexplained wealth and
criminal benefits since the Corruption, Crime and Misconduct and Criminal
Property Confiscation Amendment Act 2018 came into effect on 1 September
2018. The Commission exercises this new function within existing resourcing
levels and will review and evaluate its performance and funding by 1 September
2021. The Commission continues to balance the demands of unexplained wealth
referrals and its serious misconduct functions. Unexplained wealth activity
has also been generated by the Commission’s own investigations into serious
misconduct.

If the President is successful, the outcome will significantly impede the
Commission’s powers to expeditiously access relevant material for the purpose
of this investigation and future investigations involving senior public servants.
The proceedings have not yet been listed for trial.

Commissioner re-appointment process

A resource sharing arrangement with the WA Police Force has supported the
Commission’s unexplained wealth investigations.

The appointment of the Hon John McKechnie QC as Commissioner of the
Corruption and Crime Commission ceased as at 12.01am on 28 April 2020.
The Commission has only one Acting Commissioner, Mr Ellis. Mr Ellis maintains
a private practice as a lawyer, arbitrator and mediator while meeting the
considerable work demands of the Commission.

Supreme Court proceedings

Should Mr Ellis not be available for any reason, the Commission would be unable
to meet its legislated mandate.

In September 2019, during the course of a Commission investigation into whether
certain former members of the Legislative Council had engaged in serious
misconduct through their use of travel and electorate allowances, a dispute
arose about the extent of the Commission’s powers to compel the production of
documents relating to members of Parliament.
The President of the Legislative Council of Western Australia (the President)
commenced legal proceedings in the Supreme Court against the Commission, the
then Director General of the Department of Premier and Cabinet and the Clerk
of the Legislative Council. The Attorney General also commenced proceedings
against the President and the Clerk of the Legislative Council.
The President’s claim against the Commission included assertions that certain
notices to produce records issued by the Commission under the CCM Act, the
receipt of certain records by the Commission, and the Commission’s retention
and use of records from a device seized from an ex-member of Parliament were
not authorised by the CCM Act.

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic
The Commission’s focus throughout the COVID-19 pandemic has been the health,
safety and wellbeing of its employees, and protection of the ongoing viability of
the agency.
The Commission has responded proactively to COVID-19, implementing a number
of hygiene and workplace measures to continue to provide a safe workplace.
The Commission quickly expanded its capacity to support employees, where
possible, to work remotely during this time. The Commission implemented new
ways of working and used available technologies to enable collaboration and
engagement both internally and externally. In doing so, the Commission was able
to continue operating with minimal impact on the delivery of its functions.
The Commission continues to actively monitor and follow the latest government
and health advice to inform its response to COVID-19.
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Assessing allegations of serious misconduct
The Commission does not identify and disrupt serious misconduct on its own. It is everyone’s business
to report and act against serious misconduct. The heads of public authorities are primarily responsible
for managing serious misconduct within their agencies and have a statutory obligation to report it to
the Commission.
The Commission receives notifications and reports of suspected serious misconduct from a number of
sources, including members of the public, public sector agencies, the Police Commissioner and the Public
Sector Commission. Each of these notifications and reports may contain one or more allegations.
The Commission is responsible for assessing all allegations of serious misconduct within the public sector
and ensuring they are appropriately dealt with either by the Commission or another public authority.
The Commission can also formulate propositions about serious misconduct in the public sector and then
conduct investigations into those propositions. Such propositions may be based on its own experience and
knowledge or from information obtained from other sources (refer to page 30).
The Assessment and Strategy Development Directorate assesses all allegations received. The purpose of
the assessment process is to form an opinion whether there is a reasonable suspicion that a matter involves
serious misconduct and to make a decision on what action (if any) should be taken.
It is important that an assessment decision is made in a timely manner so prompt and appropriate action
can be taken if required. The Assessment and Strategy Development Directorate monitors the assessment
process and time taken to complete assessments.
The Commission considers a number of factors when assessing allegations including:
• whether the allegation is within the Commission’s jurisdiction – for example, the allegation involves
a Western Australian public officer and meets the definition of serious misconduct;
• the nature of the alleged serious misconduct;
• the seniority of the public officer(s) involved;
• whether there is a need for an independent investigation; and
• whether or not further information is required before an assessment decision can be made.

KEY RESULTS

2,968

Notifications/reports received

5,743

Allegations assessed

84%

Assessments completed
within 28 days

24

Days on average to
complete assessments

Allegations of serious misconduct may be referred to the Operations Committee for consideration.
The Committee oversees the Commission’s resources and operational activities. It recommends to the
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Commissioner what further actions (if any) should be taken in response to
allegations.4 The Committee considers allegations when one or more of the
following criteria are met:
• areas of strategic importance;
• involvement of senior public officers or elected officials;
• extensive or serious injuries;
• collusion or coercion to commit serious misconduct;
• value of financial loss;
• systemic issues relating to a public authority’s processes, systems or culture;
• constitutes a threat to the viability of, or confidence in, government, the
public sector, a public authority and/or the public service; and
• a threat to public safety/resources.
The Assessment and Strategy Development Directorate finalises allegations not
considered by the Operations Committee.
The Commission may seek further information during the assessment process by
consulting with external agencies, individuals and/or other intelligence sources
to help inform its assessment decision. To properly assess allegations of serious
misconduct, the Commission may conduct a preliminary investigation.
Once an allegation is assessed, the Commission decides whether to:
• investigate or take action itself;
• investigate or take action in cooperation with an independent agency or
appropriate authority;
• refer the matter to an independent agency or appropriate authority for
action; or
• take no action (the Commission will inform the person or public authority
making the report if this is the case).
Figure 2 illustrates the Commission’s assessment process.
The following case study provides an example of the type of matters assessed
by the Commission.
4 See page 33 for further information about the Operations Committee.
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CASE STUDY 1

Commission’s assessment process
The Commission received an allegation from a public authority that
an officer had corruptly allocated work to a local panel works business
where the officer had a personal friendship with the director. It was
alleged the officer accepted bribes and disclosed official information.
The value of work awarded to the panel works business was estimated
at over $750,000. The allegation was assessed and then referred to the
Operations Committee for consideration, because of the value of the
procurement.
The public authority had identified the allocation of work to the panel
works business during an audit of payments made to companies or
businesses outside formal procurement processes. The public authority
already had an existing panel agreement with two other panel works
businesses, and the public officer allegedly gave quotations from the
approved panel suppliers to their director friend. This enabled his
friend’s business to undercut the quoted prices from the existing panel
suppliers.
The public authority conducted an internal investigation, sustained the
allegations and terminated the public officer’s employment. The matter
was also reported to the WA Police Force who initiated an investigation
and charged the public officer with 26 counts of corruption.
The Commission conducted a thorough assessment. This involved
making further enquiries and analysing available information to
determine whether there was a reasonable suspicion of serious
misconduct. The Commission did form a reasonable suspicion of serious
misconduct, but decided to take no action. In this instance, action was
not taken because the matter was already being adequately dealt with
by the public authority and the WA Police Force.
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Figure 2: Commission assessment process
Notification/report received

•Intelligence
•Consultation
•Legal advice

Assessment of allegation by
the Assessment and Strategy
Development Directorate

Consideration by the Operations
Committee and recommendation
to the Commissioner*

Conduct preliminary, independent
or cooperative investigation

OR

Out of jurisdiction
(no further
action by the
Commission)

Finalisation by the Assessment
and Strategy Development
Directorate

Refer to appropriate authority or
independent agency for action

Monitor appropriate authority
action for review

Disclose to Public
Sector Commission
(minor misconduct)
or another
agency/body

Take no further
action

Monitor appropriate authority
action for outcome only

*Allegations that meet certain criteria may be referred to the Operations Committee for consideration.
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Overview of serious misconduct allegations
This section provides an overview of the serious misconduct allegations assessed
by the Commission.
The Commission assessed 5,743 allegations during 2019-20. This is an increase
on the number of allegations assessed in the previous reporting period (5,036).
Table 4 details the source of allegations assessed by the Commission during
2018-19 and 2019-20. The proportion of allegations received from members of
the public rose to 44.9% in the reporting period. This continues an upward trend

observed during the last three reporting periods (28.1% in 2016-17, 36.1% in
2017-18 and 40.6% in 2018-19). This may be due to increased public awareness
of the Commission’s work from high profile cases during the reporting period,
and a continued website and social media presence. These initiatives have
improved the visibility of the Commission’s efforts to enhance the integrity of
the public sector. The increased reporting of serious misconduct allegations by
members of the public is a positive outcome.

Table 4: Source of allegations
2018-19
Allegation source

CCM Act

Allegations of serious misconduct notified by public authorities

2019-20

No.

%

No.

%

s 28

2,930

58.2%

2,992

52.1%

Allegations of serious misconduct reported by individuals (the public)

s 25

2,043

40.6%

2,580

44.9%

Allegations of serious misconduct referred from the Public Sector Commission

s 45M(d)

61

1.2%

129

2.3%

Commission’s propositions of alleged serious misconduct

s 26

2

0.04%

42

0.7%

5,036

100%

5,743

100%

Total
Note: Percentages in tables may not total 100% due to rounding.
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Figure 3 shows the percentage of allegations relating to the WA Police Force and the rest of the public sector. The WA
Police Force remains the subject of more than half of all allegations (approximately 54%) assessed by the Commission.
Table 5 shows the total number of allegations by reference to the public authority which employs the officer the subject
of the allegation.

Disclosures and
legal compliance

3%
Not in
jurisdiction

54%
WA Police
Force

During 2019-20, the Department of Education submitted a bulk notification to the Commission capturing a number of
allegations from 2018-19, which has resulted in a higher number of allegations for that authority this reporting period.
The number of allegations for the Department of Communities increased significantly from 2018-19. This increase
was largely generated from the ongoing cooperative investigation (Operation Taurus) involving the Department and
subsequent media attention.
The number of allegations for other subject authorities shows a normal range of fluctuation observed from year to year.
Table 5: Allegations by subject authority
2018-19
Subject authority

2019-20

No.

%

No.

%

2,825

56.1%

3,099

54.0%

Independent agencies and other authorities

622

12.4%

617

10.7%

WA Health*

409

8.1%

596

10.4%

Local governments

566

11.2%

439

7.6%

Department of Justice

316

6.3%

364

6.3%

85

1.7%

234

4.1%

147

2.9%

227

4.0%

66

1.3%

167

2.9%

5,036

100%

5,743

100%

WA Police Force

Department of Communities**
Department of Education
Not in jurisdiction
Total

Figure 3:
WA Police Force
versus public sector
allegations

43%
Public sector

*WA Health refers to the whole of the Western Australian public health system and includes the Department of Health.
**In the Commission’s 2018-19 Annual Report, allegations for the Department of Communities were reported under ‘Independent agencies and other authorities’.
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The Commission categorises all assessed allegations within the following themes:
1. Criminal (for example, assault, fraud, stealing, unlawful use of a computer).
2. N
 eglect/procedural (for example, neglect of duty, breach of code of
conduct/policy or procedure).
3. P
 ersonal (for example, conflict of interest, unprofessional conduct).
4. Information (for example, breach of confidentiality, misuse of information).
Table 6 compares the total number and percentage of allegations across the
WA Police Force and the rest of the public sector during 2019-20, broken down
by theme.
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In 2019-20, the number of WA Police Force and public sector allegations
were consistent with the previous reporting period. Similarly, the allegation
themes for both the WA Police Force and the public sector are proportionately
consistent with the previous reporting period. In 2019-20, the two highest
allegation categories for the WA Police Force were ‘Neglect of Duty’ and ‘Breach
of Procedure or Policy’ (approximately 24% and 21% of all WA Police Force
allegations respectively). For the rest of the public sector, the two highest
allegation categories were again ‘Using Position for Benefit or Detriment’ and
‘Unlawful Use of Computer’ (approximately 22% and 17% of all public sector
allegations respectively).

Table 6: 2019-20 allegations by theme – WA Police Force and the rest of the public sector
WA Police Force
Allegation theme

Not in
jurisdiction

Public sector

No.

%

No.

%

No.

1,462

47.2%

272

11.0%

6

Criminal

951

30.7%

1,850

74.7%

79

Personal

494

15.9%

133

5.4%

14

No allegation

118

3.8%

134

5.4%

63

Information

74

2.4%

88

3.6%

5

3,099

100%

2,477

100%

167

Neglect/procedural

Total
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Uncovering serious misconduct
Analysis of serious misconduct trends and strategic themes
The Commission analyses allegations received and information from
investigations to identify serious misconduct trends, patterns and emerging risks.
In 2019-20, the Commission continued to focus on identifying risks associated
with each of the Commission’s six strategic themes. These themes are
priority focus areas for exposing and responding to serious misconduct risks.
The Commission also identifies and profiles other serious misconduct risks
not directly defined by its strategic themes. This includes high-risk private
behaviours, executive level risk and under-reporting of serious misconduct.
The Commission’s six strategic themes are:

1. Police misconduct
Oversight of the WA Police Force continues to be a priority for the Commission.
It includes all allegations of police misconduct, ranging from the excessive use
of force to the exercise of a power or discretion on unreasonable grounds.
Police misconduct may include conduct which falls within one or more of the
other strategic themes, such as people at risk or data and information.

2. People at risk
People at risk are those who, because of a lack of capacity to protect themselves
or remove themselves from a situation, are at greater risk of being victims of
serious misconduct. Vulnerable people can also have a limited capacity to report
serious misconduct.
Public goods and services delivered to people at risk often entail a balance
between legislative compliance and agency priorities on the one hand, and
respecting and responding to the needs of vulnerable persons on the other.
The risk of serious misconduct in these situations is significant.

3. Procurement and financial management
Procurement is the process by which goods and services are purchased.
Public sector procurement can range from a local government employing a
tradesperson for a morning to a public authority awarding contracts worth
hundreds of millions of dollars.
Financial management includes financial and accounting practices that lie outside
of procurement.
A key focus within this theme is procurement fraud.
The harm caused by corruption in procurement includes waste of public money,
lower quality of goods and services, commercial detriment to honest private
sector companies, adverse media attention, reputational damage, and the
lowering of standards and morale in the public sector.
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4. Data and information
Most public authorities collect, generate, hold and distribute confidential and
sensitive data and information. The public expects government to protect the
personal and sensitive information it holds from misuse, interference, loss, and
from unauthorised access, modification or disclosure. A key focus within this
theme is unlawful use of, or access to, a computer.

5. Policy, regulation and licensing
Government regulation and licensing affect the lives of everyone and regulate
such vital activities as the right to drive, to operate a business and to work in
specific occupations. They also control the buildings people live and work in, the
infrastructure in cities and towns and the medical, transport and other services
people receive. A significant proportion of the activities of the public sector are
concerned with regulation and licensing. Harm is caused when these processes
are corrupted, undermining public confidence and, often, public safety.

6. Use of force
Some public officers are given the power to lawfully use force to do their job.
The level of physical force used can vary from minimal, such as putting a hand on
a person to direct them, to deadly force, such as using a firearm.
The Commission often has cause to examine whether a public officer’s decision
to use force was reasonable or excessive. This includes the type and amount
of force they used. The Commission also examines the training public officers
receive in the use of force, policy frameworks and the management of use
of force. These factors can have a significant impact on officer safety and the
public perception of law enforcement, corrections officers and transit guards
and their agencies.
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Own propositions
The CCM Act s 26 gives the Commission authority to make propositions about
suspected serious misconduct, based on its own experience and the information
and knowledge gathered from its assessments, investigations and other sources.
Own propositions enable the Commission to proactively respond to, and deal
with, serious misconduct matters and areas of risk within the public sector
without having to rely solely on notifications from public authorities and reports
from the public to identify the serious misconduct.
The Commission also uses its own propositions to target serious misconduct in
line with its strategic themes by establishing standing investigations.
During 2019-20, the Commission advanced 26 investigations generated through
its own propositions. Of these investigations, 20 commenced in 2019-20 and the
remaining six commenced in 2018-19. The investigations related to:
• the Department of Justice and WA Health’s implementation of Commission
recommendations;
• trafficking of contraband, use of force and other matters in WA prisons;
• contract management corruption;
• misuse of travel and other allowances by public officers;
• serious misconduct risks associated with procurement;
• misuse of data and information; and
• instances and risks of serious misconduct related to the WA Police Force.
The following case study provides an example of a high profile investigation
resulting from the Commission’s own proposition capability.
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CASE STUDY 2

Operation Taurus – Department of Communities (ongoing)
The Commission received information that a Department of Communities’
senior officer engaged in behaviours associated with a high-risk of serious
misconduct. Even though there was no specific information about suspected
serious misconduct, based on available intelligence, the Commission
decided to proactively conduct further enquiries under CCM Act ss 26 and
33. This decision was taken because of the extent of the senior officer’s
high-risk behaviours, his position of influence and the person’s responsibility
for managing large-scale procurement processes. This created both motive
and opportunity for corruption.
The Commission’s Operational Intelligence Unit analysed whether the high-risk
behaviours had any connection to the individual’s role as a public officer.
It identified that payments of more than $500,000, from the officer’s
government credit card did not appear to be legitimate. Further intelligence
identified that the individual was continuing to approve payments of $100,000
per month to a number of companies that appeared to have no connection to
the government department. It was estimated the officer had used his position
to fraudulently obtain $20 million.
The WA Police Force was promptly alerted so it could criminally investigate
the matter. The WA Police Force later charged the officer with 520 offences of
corruption, totalling $22 million. The individual entered pleas of guilty to most
of the charges, and is due to be sentenced in late 2020.
The Commission has continued to work cooperatively with the WA Police Force and the Department of
Communities on this ongoing investigation. The media attention this investigation received resulted in new
reports of allegations of related serious misconduct, and a number of new investigations are now underway.
This matter is one of the largest known cases of public sector fraud in Australia. It demonstrates the
importance of the Commission’s proactive investigative work.

Director General of the Department of
Communities, Michelle Andrews (left),
Chief Executive, Ray Warnes (centre) and
Commissioner of Police, Chris Dawson
(right) at a media conference as part of
Operation Taurus.
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Taking action to expose and disrupt serious misconduct
All public officers are responsible for dealing with serious misconduct in the
public sector. The heads of public authorities are primarily responsible for
managing serious misconduct within their own agencies.
The Commission focuses its efforts on significant matters and areas where it
believes the greatest impact on improving the integrity of the public sector can
be achieved.
The Commission exposes and disrupts serious misconduct in a number of ways
including:
• investigating matters either by itself or in cooperation with an appropriate
authority or independent agency;
• monitoring and reviewing appropriate authorities’ responses to serious
misconduct matters;
• providing information to public authorities and other agencies;
• producing reports to raise awareness across the public sector and enable
informed action to be taken in relation to serious misconduct risks;
• making recommendations to public authorities about whether consideration
should, or should not, be given to prosecuting or taking disciplinary action
against particular persons or other action; and
• making recommendations to the Parliament of Western Australia about
legislative changes.

Operations Committee
The Operations Committee is responsible for ensuring operational activities
support the Commission’s goal of exposing and disrupting corruption and serious
misconduct in the most effective and efficient manner. The Committee comprises
the Chief Executive as Chair, directors and invited officers. The Commissioner is
not a member but may attend meetings to participate in discussions and receive
advice directly.
The Operations Committee directs and oversees the Commission’s operational
activities in six areas:
• assessments;
• investigations;
• oversight;
• strategic intelligence;
• capacity-building; and
• covert powers inspections.
The Operations Committee provides advice and recommendations, for the
Commissioner’s approval, on the action (if any) to be taken in relation to serious
misconduct allegations referred to it. This may include:
• conducting a preliminary investigation;
• investigating or taking action (independently or in cooperation with an
appropriate authority or independent agency);
• referring the allegation to an appropriate authority for action with
monitoring for outcome and/or review by the Commission;
• referring the allegation to an independent agency for action; or
• taking no further action.
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Overview of action taken in relation to allegations
Table 7 shows action taken by the Commission in relation to allegations assessed
during 2018-19 and 2019-20. During the reporting period, the Commission took
no further action in relation to 4,154 of the 5,743 allegations assessed. This was
mainly due to the following:
• the allegation not relating to serious misconduct (and therefore not coming
under the jurisdiction of the Commission);
• the allegation was being, or had been, appropriately dealt with by the
relevant public authority; or
• the Commission was unable to form a reasonable suspicion of serious
misconduct.
Of the allegations assessed, about 1% concerned minor misconduct. They were
disclosed to the Public Sector Commission and no further action was taken by
the Commission.
The Commission decided that 1,585 allegations potentially involved serious
misconduct and required further action. The Commission:
• referred 1,450 allegations for action by public authorities. Fifty of those
allegations were actively monitored and reviewed by the Commission;
• commenced investigating 99 allegations, 61 of which were investigated in
cooperation with the public authority; and
• commenced and is continuing preliminary investigations into 36 allegations.
Where the Commission decides to investigate, the allegation(s) will either be the
subject of a new Commission investigation or added to an existing investigation.
Investigations will typically involve multiple related allegations.
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Table 8 shows action taken by the Commission for allegations assessed in
2019-20, broken down by the WA Police Force and the rest of the public sector.
In relation to allegations of police misconduct, in 2019-20 the Commission
referred 612 allegations (approximately 20% of all police allegations) to the WA
Police Force for action. For 600 of those allegations, the Commission required
that it be notified of the outcome only. Twelve allegations were referred to
the WA Police Force for action, with active monitoring and review by the
Commission.
Compared to the previous year, there was a decrease in matters referred to the
WA Police Force for action. Contributing factors for this reduction likely include
the nature of allegations received, increased access to body-worn camera footage
used by the WA Police Force, and improvements in the Commission’s initial
assessment process.
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Table 7: Action taken in relation to allegations
2018-19
Action taken in relation to allegations

2019-20

No.

%

No.

%

3,429

68.1%

4,154

72.3%

2,569

51.0%

3,458

60.2%

- No further action taken by the Commission (record public authority outcome)

659

13.1%

563

9.8%

- Disclose to the Public Sector Commission

142

2.8%

54

0.9%

59

1.2%

79

1.4%

1,554

30.9%

1,450

25.3%

1,484

29.5%

1,398

24.3%

70

1.4%

50

0.9%

-

-

2

0.03%

21

0.4%

99

1.7%

17

0.3%

38

0.7%

4

0.1%

61

1.1%

29

0.6%

36

0.6%

3

0.05%

4

0.07%

5,036

100%

5,743

100%

No further action taken – s 33(1)(d)
- No further action taken by the Commission

- Disclose to other agency
Allegations referred to an appropriate authority or independent agency for action – s 33(1)(c)
- Referred to appropriate authority – monitor for outcome
- Referred to appropriate authority – monitor for review (active monitoring and review)
- Referred to independent agency
Commission to investigate – s 33(1)(a) and (b)
- Independently – s 33(1)(a)
- In cooperation with appropriate authority or independent agency – s 33(1)(b)
Allegations pending the outcome of a preliminary investigation by the Commission – s 32(2)
Refer to Operations Committee – pending a decision
Total

Note: Percentages in tables may not total due to rounding. Data in Tables 7 and 8 is representative of actions taken under the CCM Act in relation to allegations at a point in time.
The Commission may at any time decide to take other action in relation to a particular allegation.
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Table 8: Action taken in relation to allegations assessed in 2019-20 – WA Police Force and the rest of the public sector
WA Police
Force

Public
sector

Not in
jurisdiction

2,480

1,507

167

2,061

1,237

160

406

157

-

-

54

-

13

59

7

612

838

-

600

798

-

12

38

-

-

2

4

95

- In cooperation with appropriate authority or independent agency – s 33(1)(b)

-

61

- Independently – s 33(1)(a)

4

34

Allegations pending the outcome of a preliminary investigation by the Commission – s 32(2)

3

33

-

Refer to Operations Committee – pending a decision

-

4

-

3,099

2,473

167

Action taken in relation to allegations
No further action taken – s 33(1)(d)
- No further action taken by the Commission
- No further action taken by the Commission (record public authority outcome)
- Disclose to the Public Sector Commission
- Disclose to other agency
Allegations referred to an appropriate authority or independent agency for action – s 33(1)(c)
- Referred to appropriate authority – monitor for outcome
- Referred to appropriate authority – monitor for review (active monitoring and review)
- Referred to independent agency
Commission to investigate – s 33(1)(a) and (b)

Total
Note: Refer to note on Table 7.
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Investigations
The Commission investigates matters that are serious and significant, and where it believes an investigation
can improve the integrity of the public sector.
Commission investigations include:
• preliminary investigations;
• investigations conducted by the Commission independently; and
• investigations conducted by the Commission in cooperation with an independent agency or appropriate
authority.
Each Commission investigation contains one or more allegations from this or previous years.
In 2019-20, the Commission conducted 59 serious misconduct investigations, exceeding its target (50)
for the reporting period. Investigations conducted represents the total number of active and completed
investigations at the end of the reporting period. For further explanation regarding the Commission’s
key performance indicators refer to page 108.
The higher number of investigations in 2019-20 compared to the target and the previous reporting
period (50) is due to an increase in the number of investigations generated through the Commission’s
own propositions and are part of its strategic approach to identifying allegations of serious misconduct
(refer to page 30).
During the reporting period, the Commission also initiated seven independent investigations to review the
implementation of recommendations made in previous investigations. This enabled the Commission to use
its examination powers as part of its recommendation review process (refer to page 60).

Preliminary investigations
To properly assess allegations of serious misconduct, the Commission may conduct a preliminary
investigation. The purpose is to obtain enough information to make an informed decision about whether
further action should be taken. A preliminary investigation can range from gathering and analysing additional
information to conducting interviews and using the powers available to the Commission, such as obtaining
information from public authorities or individuals.

KEY RESULTS

59

Serious misconduct investigations
conducted

29

Preliminary investigations

16

Independent investigations

14

Cooperative investigations
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A decision to commence a preliminary investigation, including the scope of the investigation, is recommended
by the Operations Committee and approved by the Commissioner.
In some cases, a preliminary investigation may progress to an independent or cooperative investigation.
In these instances, the Commission reports the investigation as an independent or cooperative investigation.

Cooperative investigations
The Commission continues to work cooperatively with public authorities to investigate allegations of serious
misconduct. This approach provides a number of benefits such as sharing information and resources and
making the investigation process more efficient. It allows public authorities to manage their own risks during
the investigation process and to take greater ownership of any outcomes.
There were 14 cooperative investigations during the year. This included eight investigations where the
Commission worked cooperatively with the WA Police Force to actively disrupt serious misconduct in other
public authorities.
An example of this is the Commission’s ongoing work with the WA Police Force and the Department
of Communities on Operation Taurus to uncover and stop the largest known case of public sector fraud
in Australia.

Timely investigations
It is important that the Commission’s investigations are completed in a timely manner so appropriate action
can be taken. The Operations Committee monitors the progress and timeliness of Commission investigations.
Investigations have different degrees of complexity, raise different logistical issues and, therefore, vary
in duration.
Of the 59 serious misconduct investigations conducted this year, 26 were completed. During the reporting
period, the average time taken to complete investigations (241 days) was lower than the target (350
days) and the average for the previous reporting period (309 days). This in part relates to six short-term
investigations into how public authorities have responded to Commission recommendations made in previous
years. These investigations were open for a short period to allow the Commission to use the examination
process to question public officers.
For further explanation about the Commission’s key performance indicators refer to page 108.
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These, and other powers, are subject to strict approval processes and are closely
monitored by the Western Australian Ombudsman, Commonwealth Ombudsman
and the Parliamentary Inspector. Only Federal and Supreme Court judges can
issue warrants.
The Commission is very conscious of the intrusive nature of these powers on
individual rights and freedoms, and applies the principle of ‘least intrusion’.
For example, if a person is willing to provide a document, the Commission will
not use its power to compel a person to do so, unless there is a need to protect
the interests of the person. In practice, a serious misconduct investigation will
involve the use of some or all of the Commission’s powers, depending on the
type of allegations under investigation. The Commission seeks to deploy the
range of powers available to it in the most operationally appropriate manner.
As a result, the use of these powers varies from investigation to investigation,
and from year to year. The figures in Table 9 reflect the approach taken in serious
misconduct and unexplained wealth investigations in 2018-19 and 2019-20.

Disclosures and
legal compliance

Table 9: Statutory powers used by the Commission

Serious misconduct often occurs in secret. For this reason, the Commission has
a range of powers it can use to conduct investigations.
The Commission can request information and documents from public authorities
and individuals. It can hold private and public examinations in which people are
required to attend and answer questions. It can also enter and search public
premises without warrant and, under warrant, search other premises, seize
relevant material, intercept telephone communications and use surveillance
devices. The Commission also has the power to assess the honesty of public
officers by conducting integrity tests. Commission officers can use assumed
identities to conduct covert activities as part of investigations.

6

Number
Statutory power

2018-19

2019-20

s 94: Notices served by the Commission to
produce a statement of information

4

15

s 95: Notices served by the Commission to
obtain documents and other things

150

283

s 101: Search warrants issued to the
Commission

3

6

s 103: Approvals for the acquisition and use of
an assumed identity given by the Commission

9

9

s 121: Authorities to conduct controlled
operations granted by the Commission

3

4

s 123: Authorities for integrity testing
programs granted by the Commission

1

-

s 148: Warrants of apprehension issued by
the Commission

-

-

Warrants and emergency authorisations
issued to the Commission under the
Surveillance Devices Act 1998

2

5

14

41

Warrants issued to the Commission under the
Telecommunications (Interception and Access)
Act 1979 (Cth)
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Compulsory examinations

Investigation themes

One of the Commission’s investigative tools is the compulsory examination of
a witness.

The Commission uses strategic themes to inform which matters are investigated
(refer to page 29). In 2019-20, all investigations related to one or more of the
Commission’s strategic themes. Table 10 provides an overview of the number of
Commission investigations relevant to each strategic theme.

An examination before the Commission is not the same as a hearing conducted
by a court or tribunal. The Commission does not make a finding about guilt or
innocence. The purpose of an examination is to obtain information to advance
an investigation.
Examinations are generally conducted in private. The Commission may open an
examination to the public if it considers that it is in the public interest to do so.
The Commission weighs the benefits of public exposure and public awareness
against the potential for prejudice or privacy infringements.
Giving evidence at an examination can be a stressful experience for a witness.
The Commission has measures in place to support the welfare of witnesses who
are summonsed to attend an examination. These include:
• providing witnesses with information about the examination process and
how to seek support for the range of emotions they may experience about
giving evidence;
• assigning a Witness Liaison Officer who, on the day of examination, will
inform, advise and direct the witness in relation to the examination process;
• initiating additional support, from an external agency or party, for a witness
if there is an immediate threat to their safety and welfare; and
• training Commission officers in how to identify and assist witnesses who may
be experiencing stress.
In 2019-20, public examinations were held in relation to two investigations during
which six witnesses were examined over five days. Additionally, 66 witnesses
were examined in private over 51 days. Examinations were held for both serious
misconduct and unexplained wealth purposes.
The Commission’s live streaming of public examinations provides unique access
into the Commission’s operations and has continued to support its public profile.
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Table 10: Commission investigations in 2019-20 by strategic theme
Strategic theme

Number of investigations*

Procurement and financial management

27

Data and information

10

People at risk

12

WA Police Force

8

Policy, regulation and licensing

8

Use of force

4

* The total number of investigations in Table 10 does not equal the number of investigations
conducted during the year because investigations can relate to more than one theme.

The following case studies show some of the matters investigated by the
Commission during the reporting period. The case studies mostly focus on
investigations resulting in reports tabled in the Parliament of Western Australia,
given their significance to the public sector as a whole.
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CASE STUDY 3

Operation Betelgeuse – Parliament (ongoing)
In the course of an investigation into the former WA Trade Commissioner to Japan (Operation Overton) potential
serious misconduct risks surrounding the expenditure of parliamentary electorate allowances were identified.
Electorate allowances are public monies disbursed to assist Members of Parliament to represent their electorate.
Suspicions were also raised about the actions, when using electorate allowance funds, of former members of
the Legislative Council whilst in office. The Commission decided to analyse this further and commenced a new
investigation under the CCM Act ss 26 and 33, Operation Betelgeuse.
The Commission tabled its interim report on 17 December 2019. The investigation remains ongoing. In order to
illustrate the nature of the serious misconduct risk the focus of the interim report was the conduct of a former
member of the Legislative Council. The investigation established that the electorate allowance is vulnerable
to misuse. The electorate allowance is paid together
with the member’s parliamentary salary for use at the
member’s discretion, but for the benefit of the electorate
and the people of Western Australia.
To date, it has been established that on occasions the
allowance has not been used for that purpose but has
been used to pay for a member’s:
• private entertainment;
• personal expenses;
• personal travel; and
• private vehicle expenses and traffic infringements.
As a result of the Commission’s interim report, the State
Government has moved to tighten the accountability
related to the electorate allowance. The Salaries and
Allowances Tribunal has also committed to enhancing
the transparency and accountability around the use of
parliamentary allowances.
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CASE STUDY 4

Operation Mensa – WA Police Force
A legal representative for a person charged by the WA Police Force, reported a use of
force incident. It was alleged a police officer tasered the person on the back contrary to
policy and causing him an injury. Use of force must be authorised, excused or justified
at law, and consistent with policies and procedures. The Commission decided to
independently investigate.
The Commission established the complainant was being investigated for drug dealing
activity and there were significant intelligence holdings on him. This included access to
firearms, deteriorating mental health, and his assertions that if police tried to stop him
while driving, he would not stop and a pursuit would result. The investigation showed
that the officers planned their actions carefully. Importantly, they sought a resolution
that would be safe and not endanger the public. The officers decided to intercept the
individual at a petrol station when he was away from a vehicle.
The interception was conducted as planned and the individual was requested to empty
his pockets. He initially complied, but then ran. The officers chased on foot and noticed
he was protecting something in his pocket. Given available intelligence, they thought
the object could have been a weapon.
During the chase, the individual turned towards the officers and abused them, while
protecting his pocket. Believing that the individual had a weapon, one of the officers
discharged his taser hitting the individual in the left shoulder blade and belt area.
The individual fell to the ground and was arrested. He was found to be in possession of 11 grams of
amphetamine, and a mobile phone in his pocket.
The Commission’s investigation concluded that, in the circumstances, the officer was, on balance,
justified in discharging his taser, and his actions consistent with policy and procedure. The Commissioner
of Police and the complainant’s legal representative were advised of the conclusions reached.
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CASE STUDY 5

Operation Indus-Alpha – Approvals Agency
The Commission proactively investigates serious misconduct risks involving data
and information. The commercial value of government held data and information,
can provide financial motivation for its misuse, such as insider trading on the
Australian Stock Exchange. Operation Indus-Alpha was proactively initiated under
the CCM Act ss 26 and 32 and designed to investigate this risk in a public agency
responsible for high value approval processes.
The Commission used its powers to compel the agency to produce conflict of
interest declarations made by employees and contractors. These records were
analysed, and intelligence work established that many declarations were for
ownership of shares in companies related to the agency’s approval processes.
This included employees in high risk positions for conflicts, or their spouses or
partners. Ownership of shares is problematic in such circumstances because these
employees may know market sensitive information prior to its public release, or
are involved in decision-making impacting those companies or their competitors.
In some instances, the description of conflicts provided in declarations contained
insufficient detail. As a result, the managers responsible for addressing the
conflicts did not have enough information from which to do so.
The investigation identified a significant risk of serious misconduct in the form of
insider trading. While the risk is greater for officers occupying high risk positions
for conflicts, the investigation showed the risk may not be confined to those officers alone.
The Commission provided a report to the agency’s head outlining the nature of the misconduct
risks identified. The agency has since commenced a proactive audit to assess the effectiveness of
its existing management of conflict of interest arrangements, and compliance with its guidance on
managing conflicts of interest. The Commission supports this initiative.
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Operation Norma –
North Metropolitan Health Service
In December 2018, the Commission received a notification from the North
Metropolitan Health Service (NMHS) of potential serious misconduct by a public
officer working at Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital.
It was alleged the officer used their position to obtain significant benefits by
exploiting payroll systems over an extended period of time. Given the substantial
sum of money, potentially involved, the Commission decided to investigate.
The investigation revealed a former Clinical Trials Manager claimed just over half
a million dollars in overtime payments on top of their base salary of $112,000$126,000 a year. The officer was also found to have been absent from work on 125
days over five years, without submitting approved leave forms. The officer was then
paid approximately $65,000 in lieu of annual leave when the officer’s employment
with NMHS ended in December 2018. While the officer did work very long hours,
many of the payments were a benefit to which she was not otherwise entitled.
The Commission’s investigation identified a number of payroll weaknesses, including
a 30-year-old payroll system that used around 40 paper forms. Misconduct risks
were also identified in managerial trust and oversight, which allowed the officer
to bypass official approval processes. Claims were being effectively ‘approved’ by
manager inaction.
The Commission tabled its investigation report on 19 September 2019. The report demonstrates why strong
internal controls, detection strategies and effective oversight are important to the prevention of serious
misconduct and corruption. The report outlined specific mitigation strategies relevant to all public sector
agencies. This includes reporting mechanisms, use of data analysis, fraud training, job rotation and actively
recovering losses when identified.
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Charges and convictions
The Commission has no power to prosecute criminal offences.5
The Commission, in the course of its serious misconduct investigations,
may uncover suspected criminal activity. The Commission is empowered to
provide evidence to prosecuting authorities. In this way, the Commission
fulfils the role of an independent investigative agency, assembling evidence
for consideration by a prosecuting agency or the police.
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Table 11: Charges and convictions (arising from Commission investigations)
in 2019-20
Against
public
officers

Against
non-public
officers

Total

Charges laid in reporting period

588

656

1,244

The WA Police Force, State Solicitor’s Office and the Office of the Director of
Public Prosecutions are three of the State’s authorities that have discretion
to determine whether to commence a prosecution in relation to a criminal
offence.

Charges before the courts at
the end of the reporting period
(includes charges laid in previous
reporting periods)

592

607

1,199

In the reporting period, the WA Police Force commenced proceedings
against 10 individuals based on evidence arising from two Commission
investigations.

Charges discontinued, dismissed
or set aside in reporting period

4

-

4

Individuals charged in
reporting period

3

7

10

Individuals convicted in
reporting period

-

5

5

Individuals acquitted in
reporting period

2

-

2

Table 11 summarises charges and convictions (arising from Commission
investigations) for 2019-20. In total 1,244 charges were laid and five
individuals were convicted during the reporting period.

5 A v Maughan [2016] WASCA 128.

Charges and convictions

Examples of the types of offences prosecuted in 2019-20 include:
• gains benefit by fraud, Criminal Code s 409(1)(c);
• public officer acts corruptly in performance/discharge of functions,
Criminal Code s 83(c);
• disclosed restricted matter – person served with notice or summons,
CCM Act s 167(2)(a) and (3);
• wilfully destroyed evidence, CCM Act s 171; and
• corruption, Criminal Code (s 83).
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Oversight of appropriate authority
actions and investigations
KEY RESULTS

1,448

Allegations referred to
appropriate authorities for action

1,398

Allegations referred for
monitor outcome only

50

Allegations referred
for active monitoring
and review

Following assessment of an allegation of serious misconduct, the Commission has a number of actions open
to it. If the Commission decides not to investigate, it can refer the allegation to an appropriate authority
for action, often the one that employs the subject officer. In these instances, the Commission’s primary
responsibility is to ensure the authority deals with the matter appropriately. This is done by requiring the
appropriate authority to report on the outcome of its investigation, or through active monitoring and review
of the authority’s investigation.

Monitor outcome only
During 2019-20, the Commission referred 1,398 allegations to appropriate authorities as ‘monitor outcome
only’ matters. This figure is consistent with the previous reporting period. Allegations referred for outcome
only are generally less serious, or the Commission has confidence in the appropriate authority’s ability
to respond. The Commission retains oversight of these matters through progress updates (at least every
six months) and outcome reports that must be provided to the Commission detailing the actions taken.
The Commission keeps all outcome data for accountability, reporting and intelligence.
At year-end, 1,093 allegations referred for ‘monitor outcome only’ were being actioned by appropriate
authorities. The Commission referred most of these (97%) during the current and previous reporting periods.
It is important that appropriate authorities deal with serious misconduct allegations within a reasonable
timeframe. In January 2020, the Commission introduced a requirement for appropriate authority outcome
reports to include the agency nominated start and finish date for dealing with the allegations referred.
This information will be used by the Commission to better understand the timeliness of actions taken by
appropriate authorities into serious misconduct allegations. In the future, the Commission will report on
their timeliness.

Active monitoring and review
During 2019-20, the Commission referred 50 allegations to an appropriate authority for ‘active monitoring
and review’. This is a structured program of engagement, consultation and proactive management of the
authority’s investigation. It aims to achieve high levels of accountability, increase capacity and ensure
continued visibility by the Commission. While active monitoring and review is typically reserved for more
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serious allegations, it is also initiated for matters involving subject officers
with an extensive complaints history, where systemic issues are identified or
where the Commission seeks greater exposure to the authority’s investigation
processes. The Operations Committee oversees all matters subject to active
monitoring and review.
The Commission will report on the outcome of its active monitoring and review.
During the reporting period, the Commission tabled reports in Parliament about
the outcome of some Commission reviews. Other reports were provided to
Directors General, Commissioners and Chief Executives.
The following case studies illustrate the Commission’s active monitoring and
review process.
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CASE STUDY 7

Department of Communities’
investigation into allegations of bribery
In 2017, the Department of Communities received information from
the public that employees may be accepting bribes from potential
tenants in return for priority public housing. The Department’s
enquiries indicated the allocation of some tenancies may not have
followed established process. The Department suspected serious
misconduct and notified the Commission and the WA Police Force.
The Commission decided to monitor and review the Department’s
investigation due to the seriousness of the allegations.
The Commission’s oversight of the Department’s investigation
was impeded by staff changes in the Department and poor
communication. In 2019, the Department provided the
Commission with its final investigation report.
The Commission’s review identified significant deficiencies
in the way the Department responded and investigated the
allegations. The investigation was protracted, had scant lines
of enquiry and poor record keeping. This significantly inhibited
the ability of the Department to adequately respond to the
allegations.
In April 2020, the Commission tabled a report in the
Parliament of Western Australia to highlight the requirements
of public sector agencies when managing and investigating
serious misconduct. In response to the Commission’s review,
the Department of Communities advised that it would monitor
public housing allocations more closely and consider system
audits and review its policies and procedures.
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CASE STUDY 8

A public authority’s investigation into
unlawful use of a computer
In 2019, the Commission and a public authority both received a
report from a member of the public of alleged unlawful use of a
computer, which is a criminal offence.
The allegation involved an employee accessing personal records of a
family member’s ex-wife. The public authority had failed to notify the
Commission, of this allegation, as required.
Due to the public authority’s failure to notify the Commission,
and its lack of consideration of the criminality of the conduct, the
Commission decided to actively monitor and review the authority’s
response to this allegation.
The Commission raised the issue of criminality with the authority,
which subsequently reported the matter to the WA Police Force.
The Commission’s review noted that, despite the employee having
tendered their resignation during the investigation, the public
authority chose to continue with its process in accordance with its
disciplinary policy.
The Commission’s oversight of the matter concluded that the
authority had considered all available evidence and adequately dealt with the
matter. The public authority’s actions to reject the employee’s resignation and
terminate them instead resulted in the employee being placed on a pre-employment
Integrity Checklist. This checklist assists the relevant industry to determine the
suitability of applicants for employment.
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Helping prevent WA Police Force misconduct
All allegations of police misconduct – including serious misconduct, minor misconduct and reviewable
police action relating to sworn and unsworn officers, and people seconded to the WA Police Force – are
defined as serious misconduct under the CCM Act. As such, all allegations are notified to, and assessed by,
the Commission.
In 2019-20, allegations of police misconduct was about 54% of all allegations assessed by the Commission.
If an allegation of police misconduct is substantiated, it is the responsibility of the WA Police Force to
take disciplinary action against the officers involved. The Commission does not have the power to take
such action.
The Commission has a prevention and education function in relation to police misconduct. The Commission
can exercise this function in a number of ways including:
• liaising and consulting regularly with the WA Police Professional Standards Unit;
• providing advice to the WA Police Force on the appropriateness of actions taken in response to
allegations of police misconduct;
• consulting early and regularly with the areas tasked with investigating allegations of police misconduct,
as part of the Commission’s oversight function;
• conducting independent investigations, and cooperative investigations with the WA Police Force,
into allegations of police misconduct;
• providing reports and recommendations to the Police Commissioner, the Police Minister or by tabling
the reports in the Parliament of Western Australia; and
• providing briefings to new police recruits at the Western Australia Police Academy.
The following case studies provide examples of the Commission’s oversight of the WA Police Force’s
management of misconduct. Further information about allegations, oversight, investigations and reports
relating to the WA Police Force can be found in the ‘Overview of serious misconduct’, ‘Responding to
serious misconduct’ and ‘Building capacity’ sections of this report.
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KEY RESULTS

3,099

Allegations of police misconduct
assessed

600

Allegations of police misconduct
referred for monitor outcome only

12

Allegations of police misconduct
referred for active monitoring and
review by the Commission

8

Investigations conducted
into police misconduct
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CASE STUDY 9

Investigation by WA Police Force
into excessive use of force
In 2018, the WA Police Force notified the Commission of allegations of
excessive use of force. Two officers had responded to a disturbance in a
country town. CCTV footage captured the events. It showed two women
fighting and one officer walking towards them. Without warning, and at
close range, the officer sprayed the women’s faces with capsicum spray.
The other officer then pushed one of the women, causing her to fall to
the ground. The Commission referred the allegations to the WA Police
Force for action, subject to active monitoring and review.
The Commission’s review identified that the initial WA Police Force
district investigation did not provide the CCTV footage to the WA
Police Operational Safety and Tactics Training Unit (OSTTU), which is
responsible for reviewing police use of force. Without the CCTV footage,
OSTTU concluded the officers had not used excessive force during their
interaction with the fighting women.
As part of the WA Police Force quality assurance process, an Inspector
from the Police Conduct Investigation Unit (PCIU) reviewed the district
investigation and provided the CCTV footage to OSTTU for its opinion.
OSTTU subsequently determined that the use of capsicum spray was
excessive. The initial district investigation findings were overturned.
The Commission’s oversight of the matter concluded PCIU’s quality assurance ensured
all available evidence was considered and the matter adequately dealt with. The WA
Police Force provided bespoke training to the officer who deployed the capsicum spray,
as well as verbal guidance.
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CASE STUDY 10

Investigation by WA Police Force
into excessive use of force
In 2018, the WA Police Force notified the Commission of allegations of excessive
use of force. In the course of driving, an officer, accompanied by another officer,
saw a man swing a punch at a woman. The officers responded by pursuing the
man in the police vehicle without activating the lights and sirens. The man was
struck by the vehicle and hit a fence and fell to the ground, where he was then
restrained. The woman who had been targeted approached the officers. One of
the officers deployed capsicum spray because of the woman’s manner and failure
to stay back as directed.
The Commission initially referred the allegation regarding the excessive force
used on both the male and female to the WA Police Force for action and outcome
only. The Commission subsequently became aware of a similar matter and as
a result of the broader concerns raised, the Commission amended its original
decision to monitor and review the actions taken.
The Commission’s review identified that an adequate investigation was
undertaken into the actions of the officer driving the police vehicle. The officer’s
driving actions were found to be inconsistent with the requirements of the Road
Traffic Act 1974 and the Police Force Regulations 1979. As a result, the officer was
issued a Traffic Infringement Notice and a Managerial Notice. The Commission
also found the WA Police Force investigation took too long and it failed to address
the allegations of excessive use of force against the woman.
The Commission’s oversight concluded the WA Police Force failed to adequately pursue all lines of enquiry and
investigate all allegations. The original delay in completing the investigation, by the WA Police Force, meant that it
was no longer possible to address the remaining concerns. The WA Police Force acknowledged these shortcomings.
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Providing information to independent agencies and appropriate authorities
An important part of the Commission’s work is to share information.
The Commission may disclose official information to other public authorities
and agencies.
This can occur when the Commission receives allegations or information about
agencies or officers outside its jurisdiction, such as:
• Commonwealth or other Australian state or territory government agencies
or public officers;
• Western Australian public officers that does not constitute serious
misconduct, but raises concerns about the fitness or integrity of the person
in their public officer capacity; and
• a private person or organisation that involves possible criminal conduct.
In these cases, the disclosure is not only in the public interest, but also supports
the Commission’s legislated purpose of continuously improving the integrity of
the public sector.
The Commission also discloses allegations of potential minor misconduct to the
Public Sector Commission so it can carry out its functions and responsibilities
under the CCM Act.
In other circumstances, the Commission may disclose official information for the
purposes of prosecution or disciplinary action, or carrying out its functions under
the CCM Act. The Commission also discloses information to relevant parties
before reporting on matters adverse to them so they may make representations
to the Commission about those matters.
When the Commission is ensuring that allegations and information concerning
serious misconduct are dealt with in an appropriate way it may also consult,
cooperate and exchange information with:
• independent agencies and appropriate authorities; or
• specified or gazetted agencies (for example, interstate and anti-corruption
integrity bodies).
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During 2019-20, the Commission made disclosures of information to the
following independent agencies:
•O
 ffice of the Director of Public Prosecutions;
•O
 mbudsman WA; and
•P
 ublic Sector Commission.
The Commission made disclosures to other bodies during the reporting
period including:
•A
 ustralian Commission for Law Enforcement Integrity;
•A
 ustralian Criminal Intelligence Commission;
•A
 ustralian Federal Police;
•A
 ustralian Health Practitioners Regulation Agency;
•A
 ustralian Tax Office;
•D
 epartment of the Attorney General;
•D
 epartment of Communities;
•D
 epartment of Education;
•D
 epartment of Health;
•D
 epartment of Justice;
•D
 epartment of Lands;
•D
 epartment of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries;
•D
 epartment of Transport;
•H
 ealth Support Services;
• Independent Commission Against Corruption (NSW);
•M
 ain Roads Western Australia;
•N
 orth Metropolitan Health Service;
•O
 ffice of the Auditor General;
•P
 ublic Transport Authority;
• T AFE;
• T ax Practitioners Board;
•W
 A Country Health Service;
•W
 A Police Force; and
•W
 estern Power.
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Proposals for legislative changes
The Corruption, Crime and Misconduct Bill 2017 seeks to amend the CCM Act
to ensure the Commission has powers in relation to misconduct by Members
of Parliament that is not a matter determinable exclusively by a House of
Parliament; for example, misconduct by a Member of Parliament which could
constitute an offence under the Criminal Code. As at the end of this reporting
period, the Bill had been referred to the Standing Committee on Procedure and
Privileges.
During 2019-20, the Commission made submissions regarding statutory reviews
of Western Australian and Commonwealth laws.
These submissions were on proposed privacy and responsible sharing of
information legislation for the Western Australian public sector. The Commission
also provided submissions on proposed amendments to the Criminal Appeals
Act 2004 s 46L.
In the Commonwealth context, the Commission made submissions to the
Parliamentary Joint Committee on Intelligence and Security regarding the
Telecommunications Legislation Amendment (International Production Orders)
Bill 2020.
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Working together to develop public
sector capacity
The Commission engages in activities that aim to increase integrity across the public sector and assist
public authorities in their response to allegations of serious misconduct. The Commission’s prevention and
education function for serious misconduct, except for police misconduct, was removed in 2015.
The Commission uses a range of mechanisms to build public sector capacity and assist public authorities
to identify, respond to, and prevent serious misconduct. To do this, the Commission works collaboratively
with the Public Sector Commission, the WA Police Force, other Western Australian public authorities, and
independent agencies and integrity bodies both locally and interstate.
During 2019-20, the Commission undertook the following activities:
• reporting to public authorities and the Parliament of Western Australia on serious misconduct
investigations, highlighting areas of risk, lessons to be learnt and, where appropriate, making
recommendations for remedial action and reviewing previous recommendations made to public
authorities;
• presenting to Public Sector Commission staff and the WA Police Force new recruits, as part of
International Anti-Corruption Day activities, on the role of the Commission and corruption in the
public sector;
• delivering five presentations at the 2019 7th Australian Public Sector Anti-Corruption Conference
in Melbourne. The topics presented were:
- T he prosecution/reporting dilemma: a Commissioner’s perspective;
-B
 ribery and corruption in maintenance and service contracts;
-H
 ow professional relationships and collaboration can bring success;
-A
 reas of corruption and vulnerability: lobbying and political donations; and
-R
 eport on the Western Australian Commissioner in Japan;
• delivering 16 presentations to approximately 782 participants, on topics ranging from the role of the
Commission and its functions, professional ethics, accountability and integrity, procurement, and areas
of corruption and vulnerability in the public sector; and
• building capacity and raising awareness activities for International Anti-Corruption Day.
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KEY RESULTS

Events

12
782

Participants

Deputy Director Investigations, Jon Tuttle presenting
at the 7th Australian Public Sector Anti-Corruption
Conference in Melbourne.
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International Anti-Corruption Day – 9 December 2019
International Anti-Corruption Day is an occasion for the Commission to build capacity within the public
sector and awareness within the broader community about corruption and serious misconduct in
Western Australia, including police misconduct.

Social media campaign
To mark the 2019 International Anti-Corruption Day, the Commission launched a social media campaign
encouraging people to ‘follow clues’ that will help detect potential corruption and serious misconduct
in the Western Australian public sector.
The Commission used LinkedIn to promote the campaign. It targeted all Western Australian public
sector employees and industries who work closely with government, such as lawyers, consultants,
business and equipment suppliers, hospital and health care services, financial services, legislative office
and law enforcement.
The LinkedIn campaign was viewed 96,584 times and led to 1,258 visits to the Commission’s ‘report
corruption now’ webpage.
A communications kit featuring the campaign was shared with approximately 180 communication
and integrity contacts across the Western Australian public sector for promotion within their public
authority.
The campaign highlighted five common behaviours that allow corruption to take hold and flourish.

Public Sector Commission presentation
The Commission’s Chief Executive, Ray Warnes, presented to over 90 employees from the Public Sector
Commission about sector-wide lessons from recent corruption cases within the Western Australian
State Government.

56 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of serious
misconduct

3

Responding to
serious misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

Joint event with the WA Police Force

Other activities

The Commission and the WA Police Force hosted a joint event at the Police
Academy on 9 December 2019. The event provided the latest squad of
WA Police Force recruits with the opportunity to hear the Commissioner,
John McKechnie QC, and the Commissioner of Police, Chris Dawson, discuss
misconduct risks relating to police officers, and the Commission’s oversight
role of the WA Police Force.

The Commissioner, John McKechnie QC, spoke about International
Anti-Corruption Day in a television interview. Anti-corruption banners
were displayed in Forrest Chase to capture the attention of the Western
Australian community and CBD visitors.

Commissioner, John McKechnie QC (centre right) and Commissioner of Police, Chris Dawson (centre left)
with WA Police Force recruits.
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Reports and recommendations
Reports
Commission reports, produced under Part 5 of the CCM Act, detail the results of the Commission’s
investigations and other matters. They educate and inform the public sector and inform actions to
address misconduct risks. Reports also enable the Parliament of Western Australia and the Western
Australian community to know that significant public sector serious misconduct allegations and issues
are dealt with transparently and accountably.
The decision to release information to the public is taken very seriously. The Commission only releases
information when authorised under the CCM Act. The Commission is obliged to afford procedural
fairness to any persons adversely named or affected by its reports.
In 2019-20, the Commission produced 43 reports, which is slightly more than the target for the
reporting period (40). It is consistent with the number of reports produced (45) in 2018-19. For further
explanation regarding the Commission’s key performance indicators refer to page 108.
In 2019-20, 12 reports were provided to the Parliament of Western Australia, in addition to the
Commission’s Annual Report 2018-19. Table 12 outlines the reports tabled in Parliament and their
download statistics for the reporting period.
Website statistics for the reporting period indicate a significant interest in the Commission’s tabled
reports. The reach of these reports is extended through media coverage, website landing pages, and
social media promotions.
During 2019-20, the Commission also provided 30 reports to Directors General, Commissioners and
Chief Executive Officers. These reports were provided at the conclusion of either an investigation or
following a review of a public authority’s investigation.
The Commission continued to publish its Overview of Serious Misconduct report each quarter on its
website.
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Table 12: Reports tabled in Parliament
Date tabled

Report

Downloads

Link

5 July 2019

Abuse of power at the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development

1,910

> Read report

19 September 2019

Report on misconduct risks in Health Support Services and North Metropolitan Health Service

2,604

> Read report

24 October 2019

The implementation of recommendations arising from the Commission’s investigation into
Operation Aviemore – a final report

664

> Read report

24 October 2019

Review of recommendations made to Department of Transport arising from three reports

753

> Read report

17 December 2019

Misconduct risks in electorate allowances for Members of Parliament

2,261

> Read report

20 February 2020

Review of recommendations made following unauthorised release of confidential information
from the Public Transport Authority

799

> Read report

2 April 2020

Review of an inadequate investigation by the Department of Communities into allegations
of bribery

1,032

> Read report

9 April 2020

Further review of the WA Police Force response to an incident in the lock-up of a country town

373

> Read report

20 April 2020

Review of a WA Police Force investigation into use of force in respect of a child

584

> Read report

23 April 2020

Report into misconduct risks with access to confidential information in the Office of the
Auditor General

1,960

> Read report

18 June 2020

Final review following an arrest incident by Western Australian Police at Hamilton Hill

103

> Read report

25 June 2020

Review of recommendations made to the Department of Justice from six reports

49

> Read report
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Recommendations

Recommendation review process

Based on its assessments, investigations and other actions, the Commission
may make recommendations to an independent agency or appropriate authority
about:
• whether consideration should or should not be given to prosecuting or
taking disciplinary action against particular persons; or
• taking other action in relation to identified matters.

The Commission evaluates an appropriate authority’s response to its
recommendations. The recommendation review process ensures appropriate
authorities maintain responsibility and implement change to address the serious
misconduct risks identified. The process is usually conducted a year after the
recommendations are made. It can assist appropriate authorities to rebuild public
confidence by demonstrating how they have addressed serious misconduct risks.

During 2019-20, the Commission made five recommendations in two of its
reports to the Parliament of Western Australia.
Recommendations were made in relation to reports to the Department of
Primary Industries and Regional Development (1) and the Office of the Auditor
General (4). The report to the Office of the Auditor General included three
recommendations for all public authorities to consider.
The recommendations included consideration of prosecution of one individual.

During 2019-20, the Commission commenced reviews into 83 recommendations
made in 15 reports on the WA Police Force, Department of Justice, WA Health,
Public Transport Authority and Department of Transport.
The process involves seeking a written response from the authority to the
Commission’s recommendations. Following a review of the authority’s response,
the Commission may identify additional evidence or engagement activities
required to further inform its review. The Commission recognises that the
authority is responsible for managing serious misconduct risks and there may
be justifiable reasons why certain recommendations are not implemented or
yet completed.
The recommendation review process may not always result in the Commission
being satisfied with an appropriate authority’s response and a further review may
be required. The Commission works to ensure that there is an adequate response
to all the recommendations it makes.
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CASE STUDY 11

CASE STUDY 12

Review of Department of Justice
recommendations

Review of WA Police Force
response to an incident

In 2018, the Commission tabled six reports that exposed serious
misconduct risks in Western Australian prisons. The reports made
51 recommendations to the Department of Justice.

In 2018, the Commission tabled a report following its review of the
WA Police Force investigation and response into a disturbing use
of force incident in a country town. The Commission made four
recommendations on policy changes and officer training.

In 2019, the Commission commenced a review of the Department’s
response to the recommendations. The Department was required
to provide submissions and supporting evidence of implemented or
proposed initiatives to address each of the 51 recommendations.
The Commission evaluated the Department’s response. This included
prison visits and meetings with staff responsible for developing and
implementing the initiatives. The Commission also conducted private
and public examinations to further evaluate the Department’s
progress.
In 2020, the Commission tabled the outcome of its review.
The review commended the Department for its cooperation
and the progress made to address serious misconduct risks.
The Commission considered that the Department of Justice
had adequately addressed 37 of the recommendations and
acknowledged that some recommendations would take more time.
The Commission will conduct a further review of the outstanding
recommendations in a year’s time.

In 2019, the Commission began a review to evaluate the WA
Police Force’s response to the recommendations. The Commission
required the WA Police Force to provide submissions and
supporting evidence of implemented or proposed initiatives to
address the four recommendations.
In 2020, the Commission tabled the outcome of its review.
The Commission identified a new incident involving the same
police officer in similar circumstances that occurred after the
Commission’s 2018 report. This new matter highlighted the need
for ongoing awareness, management and training, and continued
focus on compliance.
The Commission’s review determined, however, that the
WA Police Force had adequately addressed three of the four
recommendations. The Commission will conduct a further review
of the outstanding recommendation in a year.
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Cooperating with integrity bodies
The Commission works collaboratively with other integrity and anti-corruption
bodies, locally and interstate, exchanging information, expertise, capabilities and
best-practice approaches to help combat serious misconduct within and across
jurisdictions.

The commissioners of both agencies meet regularly. Additionally, the Senior
Officers Coordinating Group continues to meet quarterly to maintain effective
working relationships and facilitate early identification, discussion and resolution
of strategic and operational issues.

Working collaboratively with anti-corruption agencies
in other states

During the reporting period, the Commission also entered into an agreement
to engage two WA Police Force officers to assist the Commission’s Financial
Investigations Team, and enhance the capability and capacity of its unexplained
wealth function.

The Commissioner and Chief Executive meet regularly with their counterparts in
other anti-corruption agencies to share information and work collaboratively on
common issues. A meeting held in October 2019 in Melbourne, prior to the start
of the 2019 7th Australian Public Sector Anti-Corruption Conference, discussed
recent activities and challenges, major reports and operational developments,
witness welfare policies and guidelines, and telephone interception
arrangements/capabilities.
During 2019-20, the Commission ensured the newly established ACT Integrity
Commission was officially declared as an agency with which the Commission may
consult, cooperate and exchange information in the performance of its serious
misconduct function.

Memoranda of Understanding with WA Police Force
In March 2020, the Commissioner and the Commissioner of Police signed an
updated Memorandum of Understanding, demonstrating ongoing commitment
to work collaboratively. This is particularly important where responsibilities
overlap or are complementary to each other. Both agencies acknowledge that
working together is important to combat organised crime, reduce the incidence
of serious misconduct (including police misconduct) and disrupt criminal activity
through confiscating assets and ill-gotten gains.
At the 7th Australian Public Sector Anti-Corruption Conference, Commissioners
from all of Australia’s Anti-Corruption agencies united to sign a joint communiqué
demanding public sector leaders take integrity more seriously.
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Covert powers inspections
Controlled law enforcement operations may involve an authorised participant
engaging in unlawful conduct. The Criminal Investigation (Covert Powers) Act
2012 (CICP Act) protects the participant from criminal responsibility where the
conduct has been authorised, and carried out, in accordance with that Act.
The CICP Act requires the Commission to inspect records of controlled operations
conducted by the WA Police Force, the Fisheries Department and the Australian
Crime Commission.6

To fulfil the Commission’s oversight role, it considers whether the agencies have
complied with the requirements of the CICP Act Part 2. Where the Commission
identifies areas of concern, feedback is provided to the agency about the issues.
Table 13 shows the controlled operation records inspected by the Commission
during 2019-20. The Australian Crime Commission did not conduct, or seek to
conduct, any controlled operations under the CICP Act.

Each of these agencies reports to the Commission on its use of controlled
operations. The Commission provides individual annual reports on the agencies’
activities to the responsible Minister for tabling in the Parliament of Western
Australia.
Table 13: Agency controlled operation records inspected by the Commission
Inspections of controlled operations
Controlled operation
authorities

Variation to
authorities

Applications
refused

Applications
withdrawn

Retrospective
authorities

82*

14

-

-

-

Fisheries Department

1

1

-

-

-

Australian Crime Commission**

-

-

-

-

-

83

15

-

-

-

Law enforcement agency
WA Police Force

Total

* A controlled operation may involve more than one authority.
** Due to the Coronavirus pandemic, the Commission did not physically inspect the General Register of the Australian Crime Commission during the reporting period but subsequently
made arrangements for an electronic inspection.
6 The Fisheries Department is defined in the CICP Act as the department principally assisting in the administration of the Fish Resources Management Act 1994. From 1 July 2017, the
relevant department is the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development. The Australian Crime Commission retains its name for the purposes of reporting under the
CICP Act, although it merged with CrimTrac to form the Australian Criminal Intelligence Commission in July 2016.
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Unexplained wealth
The conferral of an unexplained wealth function on the Commission in 2018 enables the Commission to
investigate and litigate unexplained wealth and criminal benefits under the Criminal Property Confiscation Act
2000 (CPC Act). The ultimate aim is to remove the financial incentive for criminal activity and to reduce harm
to the community.
The Commission’s work to identify and target people who have accumulated wealth through unlawful means
complements action taken by other law enforcement agencies. The WA Police Force and the Office of the
Director of Public Prosecutions retain jurisdiction over crime-used, crime-derived and declared drug-trafficker
matters.
Under the CPC Act, the Commission may apply to the court for an unexplained wealth or criminal benefits
declaration against a respondent. In relation to unexplained wealth matters, the Commission does not need
to prove any connection to the commission of an offence: the onus of proof is reversed so the respondent
must rebut the presumption that property has been acquired or is derived from criminal activity.
When the court makes an unexplained wealth or criminal benefits declaration, the respondent is liable to
pay to the State an amount equal to the amount specified in the declaration as the assessed value of the
unexplained wealth or criminal benefit acquired by the respondent. Property given or taken in satisfaction of
a person’s liability is confiscated by the State. Property that has been frozen may be confiscated to satisfy the
respondent’s liability.
Once property is confiscated, arrangements are made with the Public Trustee to sell the property (other than
currency). The proceeds are paid to the Confiscation Proceeds Account administered by the Department of
Justice on behalf of the Attorney General.
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KEY RESULTS

28

Referrals of matters received

9

Self-initiated matters

8

Preliminary investigations
conducted

7

Investigations conducted

>$10m

In assets frozen
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Powers available under the unexplained wealth function

Status of unexplained wealth matters

The Commission can exercise powers under the CPC Act, including powers to:
• require a financial institution to provide information;
• apply for an unexplained wealth declaration or criminal benefits declaration;
• apply to the court for a production order;
• apply to the court for a freezing order;
• apply to the court for a monitoring order (only in relation to criminal
benefits);
• search property (under a Justice of the Peace issued search warrant);
• seize documents relevant to unexplained wealth or criminal benefits
investigations; and
• examine persons under oath about their finances, before the Commissioner.

The Commission assesses all referrals received. The Commission can conduct
a preliminary investigation to ascertain whether to allocate further Commission
resources to the matter. During the reporting period, this has been done for
eight matters. During 2019-20, the Commission also conducted more extensive
investigations in relation to a further seven matters, all of which were ongoing
at year-end.

The Commission can also use most of its investigative powers under the CCM
Act, including powers to issue notices to produce statements of information,
documents and other evidence. It can also use information obtained under
its serious misconduct function for the purpose of performing its unexplained
wealth function.

Stakeholder engagement and unexplained wealth
referrals/reports
Since receiving the unexplained wealth function, the Commission has pursued
targets and developed working relationships with a number of key law
enforcement agencies. It provides intelligence gathered through the investigation
process to other law enforcement agencies to aid them in their disruption efforts.
During 2019-20, the Commission received 28 referrals of potential unexplained
wealth matters. The referrals consisted of 16 from the public, 11 from Western
Australian public authorities and one from a federal agency. In addition to
referrals received, the Commission self-initiated nine unexplained wealth
matters.
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As at 30 June 2020, the Commission had instituted Supreme Court proceedings
in four matters leading to freezing orders over in excess of $10 million in assets.
At the end of the reporting period, two matters were close to finalisation.
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Independent Audit Opinion (continued)
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Certification of Financial Statements
For the reporting period ended 30 June 2020
The accompanying financial statements of the Corruption and Crime Commission have been prepared in compliance
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the
financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position as at 30 June 2020.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the
financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Scott Ellis
ACTING COMMISSIONER
18 August 2020

Alan Andersson
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
18 August 2020
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

2.1.1

17,963

15,487

2.2

4,905

4,479

4.1.1, 4.3.1

1,708

1,295

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Finance costs

6.2

15

-

Accommodation expenses

2.2

2,405

2,521

Other expenses

2.2

1,018

944

28,014

24,726

265

78

265

78

(2)

7

(2)

7

263

85

27,751

24,641

Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
Other revenue

3.2

Total revenue
Gains
(Loss)/gain on disposal of non-current assets
Total gains
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES

3.3
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Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Service appropriation

3.1

26,975

27,067

Services received free of charge

3.1

25

53

27,000

27,120

SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD

(751)

2,479

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

(751)

2,479

Income from State Government

Total income from State Government

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2020

2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

6.3

8,997

8,892

Receivables

5.1

319

237

Amounts receivable for services

5.2

1,300

1,700

Other current assets

5.3

935

727

11,551

11,556

ASSETS
Current assets

Total current assets
Non-current assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

6.3

260

195

Receivables

5.1

145

143

Amounts receivable for services

5.2

15,410

15,077

Property, plant and equipment

4.1

2,832

3,405

Right-of-use assets

4.2

374

-

Intangible assets

4.3

223

165

Total non-current assets

19,244

18,985

TOTAL ASSETS

30,795

30,541
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Statement of Financial Position (continued)

Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables

5.4

604

526

Lease liabilities

6.1

274

-

3,204

3,131

4,082

3,657

6.1

126

-

2.1.2

956

743

Total non-current liabilities

1,082

743

TOTAL LIABILITIES

5,164

4,400

25,631

26,141

Contributed equity

12,466

12,225

Accumulated surplus

13,165

13,916

TOTAL EQUITY

25,631

26,141

Provisions

2.1.2

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Provisions

NET ASSETS
EQUITY

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020

Contributed
equity

Accumulated
surplus/ (deficit)

Total equity

Note

$’000

$’000

$’000

8.8

13,325

11,437

24,762

Correction of prior year items (a)

(1,100)

-

(1,100)

Restated balance at 1 July 2018

12,225

11,437

23,662

Surplus/(deficit)

-

2,479

2,479

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

2,479

2,479

12,225

13,916

26,141

12,225

13,916

26,141

Surplus/(deficit)

-

(751)

(751)

Total comprehensive income for the period

-

(751)

(751)

Capital appropriations

241

-

241

Total

241

-

241

12,466

13,165

25,631

Balance at 1 July 2018

Balance at 30 June 2019
Balance at 1 July 2019

8.8

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Balance at 30 June 2020

(a) The correction in contributed equity last year shows the adjustment of $1.1 million that Treasury reflected as a repayment of a capital appropriation.
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Service appropriation

25,742

24,869

Capital appropriation

241

-

1,300

2,200

27,283

27,069

(17,508)

(15,902)

(5,234)

(3,900)

(15)

-

(2,344)

(2,511)

(907)

(765)

(1,194)

(939)

14

7

GST receipts from taxation authority

859

756

Other receipts

383

59

(25,946)

(23,195)

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Holding account drawdown
Net cash provided by State Government
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employees benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Accommodation
GST payments on purchases
Other payments
Receipts
GST receipts from services

Net cash used in operating activities
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Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

(912)

(622)

1

13

(911)

(609)

Principal elements of lease payments

(256)

-

Net cash used in financing activities

(256)

-

170

3,265

9,087

5,822

9,257

9,087

Notes
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

6.3

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations
For the year ended 30 June 2020

2020
Budget
estimate

Supplementary
funding

Revised
budget

Actual

Variance

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

27,635

26,473

(1,162)

Delivery of services
Item 65 Net amount appropriated to deliver services

27,635

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
Total appropriations provided to deliver services

502

-

502

502

-

28,137

-

28,137

26,975

(1,162)

958

241

(717)

29,095

27,216

(1,879)

Capital
Item 132 Capital appropriations
GRANT TOTAL

958
29,095

-

The variance during 2019-20 mainly relates to the removal of Treasury appropriation provided for the depreciation and interest on the Commission’s Head Office
lease under AASB 16 Leases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. Basis of preparation

The Commission is a WA Government entity and is controlled by the State of
Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The entity is a not-for-profit
entity (as profit is not its principal objective) and it has no cash generating units.
A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have
been included in the ‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial
statements.
These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the
Accountable Authority of the Commission on 18 August 2020.

Statement of compliance
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with:
• the Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA);
• the Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI);
• Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) reduced disclosure requirements; and
• where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit
entities have been applied.
The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions
(the Instructions) take precedence over AAS. Several AAS are modified
by the Instructions to vary application, disclosure format and wording.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial
effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the
accrual basis of accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain
balances will apply a different measurement basis (such as the fair value basis).
Where this is the case the different measurement basis is disclosed in the
associated note.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

Judgements and estimates
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial
information being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in
the preparation of these financial statements are disclosed in the notes where
amounts affected by those judgements and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates
and associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from
historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.
Judgements and estimates have been made to meet the requirements of the new
standard AASB 16.

AASB 16:
Judgements to be made for AASB 16 include identifying leases within contracts,
determination whether there is reasonable certainty around exercising extension
and termination options, identifying whether payments are variable or fixed in
substance and determining the stand-alone selling prices for lease and non-lease
components.
Estimation uncertainty that may arise is the estimation of the lease term,
determination of the appropriate discount rate to discount the lease payments
and assessing whether the right-of-use asset needs to be impaired.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
1. Basis of preparation (continued)
Contributed equity
The AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned
Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions,
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be
designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the
time of, or prior, to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by
owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a
restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

2. Use of our funding
2.1 Expenses incurred in the delivery of services
This section provides additional information about how the Commission’s funding
is applied and the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of
the items recognised in the financial statements. The primary expenses incurred
by the Commission in achieving its objectives and the relevant notes are:
2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Employee benefits expenses

2.1.1

17,963

15,487

Employee benefits provisions

2.1.2

4,160

3,874

2.2

8,328

7,944

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

16,352

13,990

1,611

1,497

17,963

15,487

Other expenses

2.1.1 Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits
Superannuation – defined contribution plans
Add: AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits
Less: Employee contributions

31
(15)
17,979
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
Employee benefits: Include all costs related to employment including wages and
salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements and termination payments.
Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement
of Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS
(concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBs, or other superannuation funds.
AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits: Non-monetary employee benefits, that are
employee benefits expenses, relate to the provision of vehicle benefits measured
at the cost incurred by the Commission.

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries,
annual leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date
and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

1,373

1,147

1,781

1,889

22

68

3,176

3,104

28

27

28

27

3,204

3,131

CURRENT
Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave(b)
Deferred salary scheme

(c)

Other provisions
Employment on-costs(d)
Total current employee benefits provisions

2019

$’000

$’000

947

736

947

736

9

7

9

7

956

743

4,160

3,874

NON-CURRENT
Employee benefits provisions
Long service leave(b)
Other provisions

2.1.2 Employee benefits provisions

Annual leave(a)

2020

Employment on-costs(d)
Total non-current employee benefits provisions
Total employee benefits provisions

(a) Annual leave liabilities: Classified as current as there is no unconditional
right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.
The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected
payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the
reporting date.
(b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions
are classified as current liabilities as the Commission does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.
Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified
as non-current liabilities because the Commission has an unconditional right
to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the
requisite years of service.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2.1.2 Employee benefits provisions (continued)
The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as the
Commission does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months.
The present value is measured taking into account the present value of expected
future payments to be made in relation to services provided by employees up
to the reporting date. These payments are estimated using the remuneration
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement, discounted using market yields
at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to
maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities: Classified as current where there is no
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end
of the reporting period.
(d) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave
liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including
workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of
expected future payments.
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses
when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs
are included as part of ‘Other expenses, note 2.2 (apart from the unwinding of
the discount (finance cost))’ and are not included as part of the Commission’s
‘employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in ‘Employment
on-costs provision’.

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

34

39

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period
Additional provisions recognised

5

Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits

(2)

(5)

Carrying amount at end of period

37

34

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical
experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year.
Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Commission’s
long service leave provision. These include:
• expected future salary rates;
• discount rates;
• employee retention rates; and
• expected future payments.
Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying
amount of the long service leave provision.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of long service leave
liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
2.2 Other expenses
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Supplies and services
Communications

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

19

27

Employment on-costs

817

772

Audit fees

169

139

13

6

Other expenditures
Equipment repairs and maintenance

362

536

3,422

2,994

67

172

Other expenses

246

123

Total other expenditures

1,018

944

3

8

Total other expenses

8,328

7,944

Consumables

269

201

Minor plant and equipment

483

337

53

108

4,905

4,479

Accommodation expenses: Lease expenses relate to payments made to
Department of Finance for the Commission’s head office. Repairs, maintenance
and cleaning costs are recognised as expenses as incurred.

1,493

1,617

Building outgoings

408

405

Other expenditure: Other operating expenses generally represent the other
day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. These include:

Parking

126

123

Cleaning

98

80

Electricity and water

158

132

Repairs and maintenance

122

164

2,405

2,521

Consultants and contractors
Motor vehicle expenses
Legal expenses
Publications and printing

Travel
Total supplies and services expenses
Accommodation expenses
Lease expense

Total accommodation expenses

Supplies and services: Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in
the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any
materials held for distribution are expensed when the materials are distributed.

Repairs and maintenance costs that are recognised as expenses as incurred,
except where they relate to the replacement of a significant component of an
asset. In that case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated.
Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other
employment on-costs. The on costs liability associated with the recognition of
annual and long service leave liabilities is included at note 2.1.2 Employee benefit
provision. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for
leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

3. Our funding sources

2020

2019

How we obtain our funding

$’000

$’000

Building Management and Works

13

12

State Solicitor’s Office

12

41

Total services received

25

53

27,000

27,120

This section provides additional information about how the Commission obtains
its funding and the relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition
and measurement of this funding. The primary income received by the
Commission and the relevant notes are:
2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Income from State Government

3.1

27,000

27,120

Other revenue

3.2

265

78

(Losses)/gains

3.3

(2)

7

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

26,975

27,067

26,975

27,067

3.1 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation(a)

Services received free of charge from other
State Government agencies during the period(b):

Total income from State Government

(a) Service Appropriations: Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues
at fair value in the period in which the Commission gains control of the
appropriated funds. The Commission gains control of appropriated funds at
the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited to the
‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.
Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation
revenue comprises the following:
• cash component; and
• a receivable (asset).
The receivable (holding account – note 5.2) comprises the following:
• the budgeted depreciation expense for the year; and
• any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.
(b) Services received free of charge: Services received free of charge or for
nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the services that can
be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not
donated. Contributions of services in the nature of contributions by owners
are recognised direct to equity.

84 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of serious
misconduct

3

4

Responding to
serious misconduct

Building
capacity

5

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

4. Key assets

3.2 Other revenue

Other revenue
Contributions to government vehicle scheme
Total other revenue

2020

2019

Assets the Commission utilises for economic benefit or service potential

$’000

$’000

250

62

15

16

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Commission
utilises to gain economic benefits or provide service potential. The section
sets out both the key accounting policies and financial information about the
performance of these assets:

265

78

3.3 (Loss)/gain on disposal of non-current assets
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Operations equipment and motor vehicles

1

13

Operations equipment and motor vehicles

(3)

(6)

Total other income

(2)

7

2020

2019

Notes

$’000

$’000

Plant and equipment

4.1

2,832

3,405

Right-of-use assets

4.2

374

-

Intangibles

4.3

223

165

3,429

3,570

Total assets

Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed

Realised and unrealised gains: Realised and unrealised gains are usually
recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of
non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets.
Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by
deducting from the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and
related selling expenses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss in the
statement of comprehensive income (from the proceeds of sale).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4.1 Plant and equipment
Office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Operations
equipment
vehicles

Leasehold
improvements

Works in
progress

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Gross carrying amount

142

6,569

4,537

1,426

-

12,674

Accumulated depreciation

(73)

(4,858)

(4,187)

(151)

-

(9,269)

Carrying amount at start of period

69

1,711

350

1,275

-

3,405

Additions

18

419

109

145

39

730

1 July 2019

Disposals
Depreciation

(16)

(1,014)

(166)

(107)

-

(1,303)

71

1,116

293

1,313

39

2,832

Gross carrying amount

160

6,742

3,862

1,570

39

12,373

Accumulated depreciation

(89)

(5,626)

(3,569)

(257)

-

(9,541)

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020

Initial recognition
Items of plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at
cost. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its
fair value at the date of acquisition. Items of plant and equipment costing less
than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive
Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are
significant in total).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment charge for the period
Depreciation

Notes

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Office equipment

4.1

16

11

Computer equipment

4.1

1,014

960

Operations equipment and
motor vehicles

4.1

166

112

Leasehold improvements

4.1

107

124

Right-of-use assets

4.2

282

-

1,585

1,207

Total depreciation

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to plant and
equipment. All surplus assets at 30 June 2020 have either been classified as
assets held for sale or have been written-off.

Finite useful lives
All plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated
over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of
their future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include items under
operating leases and assets held for sale.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate
the asset’s value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life.
Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for current and prior
years are included in the table below:
Leasehold improvements

10 – 15 years or remaining period of lease

Computer equipment

3 – 5 years

Operations equipment

3 – 5 years

Office equipment

3 – 5 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

Software

3 years

(a)

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each annual reporting period, and adjustments should be made
where appropriate.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
their useful lives.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4.1.1 Depreciation and impairment charge for the period
(continued)
Impairment
Non-financial assets, including items of plant and equipment, are tested for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is
estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount,
the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount
and an impairment loss is recognised.
Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an
impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss. If there is an indication that
there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased
to its recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s
carrying amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or
where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs.
The Commission shall measure the right-of-use assets at cost less any
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The agency
shall apply AASB 136 Impairment of Assets to determine whether the right-of-use
asset is impaired and to account for any impairment loss identified.

4.2 Right-of-use assets
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Accommodation

167

-

Motor vehicles

207

-

Total right-of-use assets

374

-

Right-of-use assets

Additions to right-of-use assets during the 2020 financial year were $651,960.

Initial recognition
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following:
• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received;
• any initial direct costs; and
• restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets,
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses and adjusted for any re-measurement of
lease liability.

Depreciation and impairment of right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets.
Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment
is identified. The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in
note 4.1.1.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4.3 Intangible assets

4.2 Right-of-use assets (continued)
The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income:

2020

2019

Computer software

$’000

$’000

1,712

1,568

(1,489)

(1,403)

223

165

Carrying amount at start of period

165

82

Additions

181

171

(123)

(88)

223

165

2020

2019

At cost

$’000

$’000

Accumulated amortisation

Accommodation

182

-

Motor vehicles

100

-

Reconciliations

Total right-of-use assets depreciation

282

-

Computer software

15

-

Lease interest expense
(included in Finance Cost)
The total cash outflow for leases in 2020 was $270,228.

The Commission has leases for vehicles and office accommodation.
The Commission has also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding
Agreements (MOU) with the Department of Finance for the leasing of
office accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 because of
substitution rights held by the Department of Finance and are accounted for
as an expense as incurred.
Up to 30 June 2019, the Commission classified leases as either finance leases or
operating leases. From 1 July 2019, at 1 July 2019, the Commission recognises
leases as right-of-use assets and associated lease liabilities in the Statement of
Financial Position.
The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these right-of-use assets have
been disclosed in note 6.1.

Amortisation expense
Carrying amount at end of period

Initial recognition
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at
significantly less than fair value, the cost is their fair value at the date of
acquisition.
An internally generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following are demonstrated:
(a) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;
(b) an intention to complete the intangible asset, and use or sell it;

Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20 | 89

1

Commission
overview

2

Profile of serious
misconduct

3

Responding to
serious misconduct

4

Building
capacity

5

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
4.3 Intangible assets (continued)
(c) the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
(d) the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;
(e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and
(f) the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated
intangible assets at a minimum of $5,000 that comply with the recognition
criteria as per AASB 138.57 (as noted above) are capitalised.
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. Costs incurred in the research phase of a
project are immediately expensed.

Subsequent measurement
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of intangible assets,
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The Commission held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no
intangible assets not yet available for use.
Amortisation of finite life intangible assets is calculated on a straight line basis at
rates that allocate the asset’s value over its estimated useful life. All intangible
assets controlled by the Commission have a finite useful life and zero residual
value. Estimated useful lives are reviewed annually.
The estimated useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:
Software (a)

3 – 5 years

Website costs

3 – 5 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware.

Impairment of intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for impairment annually or
when an indication of impairment is identified.

Website costs

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Software

123

88

Website costs are expensed when incurred unless they directly relate to the
acquisition or development of an intangible asset. In this instance they may be
capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during
the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the
operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website
that can be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they represent
probable future economic benefits.

Total amortisation

123

88

Computer software

4.3.1 Amortisation and impairment
Amortisation

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to intangible assets.
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Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as part of
the tangible asset. Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is
recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed
in the year of acquisition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

5. Other assets and liabilities

This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Commission’s
controlled operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits
and liabilities incurred during normal operations:

Notes

Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances
for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount of net trade
receivables is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.

5.2 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)

2020

2019

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

1,300

1,700

Non-current

15,410

15,077

Balance at end of period

16,710

16,777

Receivables

5.1

464

380

Amounts receivable for services
(Holding Account)

5.2

16,710

16,777

Other assets

5.3

935

727

Payables

5.4

604

526

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Trade receivables

163

115

Goods and Services Tax (GST) receivable

156

122

Total current

319

237

Trade receivables

145

143

Total non-current

145

143

Total receivables

464

380

5.1 Receivables

Current

Non-current

Current

Amounts receivable for services: Amounts receivable for services represent the
non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only
be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no
expected credit loss of the holding accounts).

5.3 Other assets
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Prepayments

935

727

Total current

935

727

Current

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in
advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

6. Financing

5.4 Payables
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the
financing and cash flows of the Commission:
Notes

Current
Lease liabilities

6.1

61

Finance costs

6.2

191

33

Cash and cash equivalents

6.3

604

526

Trade payables

154

432

Accrued salaries

259

Accrued expenses
Total current

Payables: Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Commission
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets
or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is
generally within 30 days.
Accrued salaries: Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid
at the end of the reporting period. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight
of the reporting period end. The Commission considers the carrying amount of
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.
The accrued salaries suspense account (See note 6.3 ‘Restricted cash and cash
equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually, from Commission appropriations
for salaries expense, into a Treasury suspense account to meet the additional
cash outflow for employee salary payments in reporting periods with 27 pay days
instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this account.
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6.1 Lease liabilities
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

Current

274

-

Non-current

126

-

Balance at end of period

400

-

The Commission measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, the Commission uses the incremental borrowing
rate provided by Western Australia Treasury Corporation.
Lease payments included by the Commission as part of the present value
calculation of lease liability include:
• fi
 xed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable;
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
6.1 Lease liabilities (continued)
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured
using the index or rate as at the commencement date;
• amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees;
• the exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to
be exercised); and
• payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects
the agency exercising an option to terminate the lease.
The interest on the lease liability is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. Lease
liabilities do not include any future changes in variable lease payments (that
depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability
is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the
lease term by the Commission if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended
(or not terminated).

Subsequent measurement
Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject
to adjustments to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications.

6.2 Finance costs

Lease interest expense

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

15

-

15

-

‘Finance cost’ includes the interest component of lease liability repayments.

6.3 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Balance at end of period

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

8,997

8,892

260

195

9,257

9,087

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent
(and restricted and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short
term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk
of changes in value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

7. Financial instruments and contingencies

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement
of financial position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the
best estimate.

This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement
techniques of the Commission:

Notes
Financial instruments

7.1

Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or
payable respectively.

Contingent assets and liabilities

7.2

7.2.1 Contingent assets
The Commission has no contingent assets.

7.1 Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
2020

2019

$’000

$’000

8,997

8,892

260

195

Financial assets at amortised cost(a)

17,018

17,035

Total financial assets

26,275

26,122

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

604

526

Total financial liabilities

604

526

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

(a) The amount of financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable
from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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7.2.2 Contingent liabilities
The Commission has no contingent liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

8. Other disclosures

8.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting
standards or other pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial
report.
Notes
Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

8.1

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

8.2

Key management personnel

8.3

Related party transactions

8.4

Affiliated bodies

8.5

Related bodies

8.6

Remuneration of auditors

8.7

Equity

8.8

Supplementary financial information

8.9

Explanatory statement

8.10

8.1 Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
There have been no material events occurring after 30 June 2020.

(a) A
 ASB 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces AASB 118 Revenue
and AASB 111 Construction Contracts for annual reporting periods on or after
1 July 2019. Under the new model, an entity shall recognise revenue when (or as)
the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service and is based upon the transfer of control rather than transfer of risks and
rewards.
AASB 15 focuses on providing sufficient information to the users of financial
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and
cash flows arising from the contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised by
applying the following five steps:
• identifying contracts with customers;
• identifying separate performance obligations;
• determining the transaction price of the contract;
• allocating the transaction price to each of the performance obligations; and
• recognising revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.
Revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. Any distinct goods
or services are separately identified and any discounts or rebates in the contract
price are allocated to the separate elements.
AASB 1058 is applied to Not-for-Profit Entities for recognising income that is not
revenue from contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition under
AASB 1058 depends on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or
other performance obligation (a promise to transfer a good or service), or a
contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or another asset)
recognised by an agency.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards
(continued)
AASB 15 is not applicable to the Commission as the Commission does not provide
contractual services to customers.
For AASB 1058, the Commission will adopt the modified retrospective approach
on transition to AASB 1058. No comparative information will be restated under
this approach, and the Commission will recognise the cumulative effect of initially
applying the standard as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated
surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial application (1 July 2019).
Under this transition method, the Commission may elect to apply the Standard
retrospectively only to contracts and transactions that are not completed
contracts at the date of initial application.
Application of AASB 1058 has a nil impact on the Commission’s financial
statements as it is deemed when the appropriations are received the Commission
has an obligation to utilise the funds to deliver its services.
Refer to notes 3.1, 3.2 and 3.3 for the revenue and income accounting policies
adopted from 1 July 2019.

(b) AASB 16 – Leases
AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases and related interpretations.
AASB 16 primarily affects lessee accounting and provides a comprehensive model
for the identification of lease arrangements and their treatment in the financial
statements of both lessees and lessors.
The Commission applies AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. As permitted under the specific transition provisions,
comparatives are not restated. The cumulative effect of initially applying this
Standard is recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated
surplus/(deficit).
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The main changes introduced by this Standard include identification of lease
within a contract and a new lease accounting model for lessees that require
lessees to recognise all leases (operating and finance leases) on the Statement of
Financial Position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for short term
leases (lease terms of 12 months or less at commencement date) and low-value
assets (where the underlying asset is valued less than $5,000). The operating
lease and finance lease distinction for lessees no longer exists.
Under AASB 16, the Commission takes into consideration all operating leases that
were off balance sheet under AASB 117 and recognises:
(a) right of use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position,
initially measured at the present value of future lease payments, discounted
using the incremental borrowing rate (2.5%) on 1 July 2019;
(b) depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income; and
(c) the total amount of cash paid as principal amount, which is presented in the
cash flows from financing activities, and interest paid, which is presented in
the cash flows from operating activities, in the Statement of Cash Flows.
In relation to leased vehicles that were previously classified as finance leases,
their carrying amount before transition is used as the carrying amount of the
right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities as of 1 July 2019.
The Commission measures concessionary leases that are of low value terms and
conditions at cost at inception. There is no financial impact as the Commission is
not in possession of any concessionary leases at the date of transition.
The right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment at the date of transition and
the Commission has not identified any impairments to its right-of-use assets.
The Commission has not reassessed whether existing contracts are, or contained
a lease at 1 July 2019. The requirements of paragraphs 9-11 of AASB 16 are
applied to contracts that came into existence post 1 July 2019.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.2 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards
(continued)

Measurement of lease liabilities:
$’000

The effect of adopting AASB 16 as at 1 July 2019 was, as follows:
Adjustments
1 July 2019
$’000
Assets
Right-of-use assets

619

Total assets

619

Liabilities

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 30
June 2019

30,069

Discounted using incremental borrowing rate at
date of initial application

(29)

Add: Finance lease liabilities recognised as at 30
June 2019
(Less): Government office accomodation provided
under MOU not recognised as liability

(29,421)

(Less): Low-value leases not recognised as liability

Lease liabilities

619

Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019

619

Total liabilities

619

Current lease liabilities

274

Non-current lease liabilities

126

Total adjustment to equity

-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.3 Key management personnel

Compensation of senior officers

The Commission has determined that key management personnel include
ministers, members, and senior officers of the Commission. However, the
Commission is not obligated to compensate ministers and therefore disclosures
in relation to ministers’ compensation may be found in the Annual Report on
State Finances.

2020

2019

430,001 – 440,000

1

-

370,001 – 380,000

-

1

280,001 – 290,000

1

1

210,001 – 220,000

1

-

180,001 – 190,000

1

2

140,001 – 150,000

1

-

90,001 – 100,000

-

1

$

Total compensation for key management personnel, comprising members of the
accountable authority and senior officers, of the Commission for the reporting
period are presented within the following bands:
Compensation of members of the
accountable authority

2020

2019

$
570,001 – 580,000

1

-

10,001 – 20,000

-

1

490,001 – 500,000

-

1

0 – 10,000

1

-

80,001 – 90,000

1

-

2020

2019

20,001 – 30,000

-

1

$’000

$’000

1,619

1,557

Post-employment benefits

125

72

Other long-term benefits

196

43

1,940

1,672

Short-term employee benefits

Total compensation of senior officers

Compensation of senior officers
Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the
Commission in respect of members of the accountable authority. In the Commission,
members of the accountable authority are the Commissioner and Acting
Commissioners as appointed under the Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.4 Related party transactions
The Commission is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by
the State of Western Australia.
Related parties of the Commission include:
• all cabinet ministers and their close family members, and their controlled
or jointly controlled entities;
• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or
jointly controlled entities;
• other departments and public sector entities, including related bodies that
are included in the whole of government consolidated financial statements;
• associates and joint ventures of a wholly owned public sector entity; and
• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Significant transactions with Government-related entities
In conducting its activities, the Commission is required to transact with
the State and entities related to the State. These transactions are generally
based on the standard terms and conditions that apply to all agencies.
Such transactions include:
• income from State Government (note 3.1);
• equity contributions (note 8.8);
• Superannuation payments to GESB (note 2.1.1);
• lease rentals payments to the Department of Finance (Government Office
Accommodation and State Fleet) (note 2.2) and related outstanding
balances; and
• remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General (note 8.7).

Significant transaction with other related entities
Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Commission, there were
no related party transactions that involved key management personnel and their
close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

8.5 Affiliated bodies
The Commission had no affiliated bodies during the financial year.

8.6 Related bodies
The Commission had no related bodies during the financial year.

8.7 Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the
current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and
performance indicators

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

44

47
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.8 Equity

8.9 Supplementary financial information
2020

2019

2020

2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

-

6

-

6

Losses of public moneys and, public and other
property through theft or default

-

12

Amounts recovered

-

-

-

12

-

-

-

-

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Correction of prior year items
Restated balance at start of period

Write-offs
12,225

13,325

-

(1,100)

12,225

12,225

During the financial year, nil (2019: $5,621)
was written off the Commission’s asset register
under the authority of:
The accountable authority

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation

241

-

Total contribution by owners

241

-

12,466

12,225

Balance at end of period
Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of period

13,916

11,437

(751)

2,479

Balance at end of period

13,165

13,916

Total Equity at end of period

25,631

26,141

Result for the period
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Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Gifts of public property
Gifts of public property provided by the
Commission
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.10 Explanatory statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and
between the actual results for 2020 and 2019 are shown below. Narratives are
provided for key variations selected from observed major variances, which are
generally greater than:

• 10% and $1 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income, Statement of
Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows

Original
budget 2020

Actual
2020

Actual
2019

Variance between
estimate and
actual

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019

note

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

A, 1

19,217

17,963

15,487

(1,254)

2,476

Supplies and services

2

2,976

4,905

4,479

1,929

426

Depreciation and amortisation expense

3

3,497

1,708

1,295

(1,789)

413

Finance costs

4

908

15

-

(893)

15

Accommodation expenses

4

1,135

2,405

2,521

1,270

(116)

711

1,018

944

307

74

28,444

28,014

24,726

(430)

3,288

Variance
Statement of Comprehensive Income
EXPENSES
Employee benefits expense

Other expenses
Total cost of services
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Original
budget 2020

Actual
2020

Actual
2019

Variance between
estimate and
actual

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Other revenue

40

265

78

225

187

Total revenue

40

265

78

225

187

Gain on disposal of non-current assets

-

(2)

7

(2)

(9)

Total gains

-

(2)

7

(2)

(9)

40

263

85

223

178

28,404

27,751

24,641

(653)

3,110

28,137

26,975

27,067

(1,162)

(92)

25

25

53

-

(28)

Total income from State Government

28,162

27,000

27,120

(1,162)

(120)

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD

(242)

(751)

2,479

(509)

(3,230)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

(242)

(751)

2,479

(509)

(3,230)

Variance
Statement of Comprehensive Income

note

INCOME
Revenue

Gains

Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Original
budget 2020

Actual
2020

Actual
2019

Variance between
estimate and
actual

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

5,174

8,997

8,892

3,823

105

212

319

237

107

82

1,700

1,300

1,700

(400)

(400)

976

935

727

(41)

208

-

-

-

-

-

8,062

11,551

11,556

3,489

(5)

Restricted cash and cash equivalents

290

260

195

(30)

65

Receivables

141

145

143

4

2

17,974

15,410

15,077

(2,564)

333

3,800

2,832

3,405

(968)

(573)

18,786

374

-

(18,412)

374

318

223

165

(95)

58

Total non-current assets

41,309

19,244

18,985

(22,065)

259

TOTAL ASSETS

49,371

30,795

30,541

(18,576)

254

Variance
Statement of Financial Position

note

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Non-current assets held for distribution to owner
Total current assets
Non-current assets

Amounts receivable for services

5

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets

5
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Original
budget 2020

Actual
2020

Actual
2019

Variance between
estimate and
actual

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Payables

173

604

526

431

78

Lease liabilities

915

274

-

(641)

274

Provisions

3,593

3,204

3,131

(389)

73

Total current liabilities

4,681

4,082

3,657

(599)

425

18,577

126

-

(18,451)

126

877

956

743

79

213

-

-

-

-

-

Total non-current liabilities

19,454

1,082

743

(18,372)

339

TOTAL LIABILITIES

24,135

5,164

4,400

(18,971)

764

NET ASSETS

25,236

25,631

26,141

395

(510)

14,283

12,466

12,225

(1,817)

241

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

10,953

13,165

13,916

2,212

(751)

TOTAL EQUITY

25,236

25,631

26,141

395

(510)

Variance
Statement of Financial Position

note

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities

5

Provisions
Other provisions

EQUITY
Contributed equity
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Original
budget 2020

Actual
2020

Actual
2019

Variance between
estimate and
actual

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Service appropriation

24,640

25,742

24,869

1,102

873

Capital appropriation

958

241

-

(717)

241

1,700

1,300

2,200

(400)

(900)

27,298

27,283

27,069

(15)

214

B

(19,157)

(17,508)

(15,902)

1,649

(1,606)

6, C

(2,976)

(5,234)

(3,900)

(2,258)

(1,334)

(908)

(15)

-

893

(15)

(1,129)

(2,344)

(2,511)

(1,215)

167

(1,112)

(907)

(765)

205

(142)

(692)

(1,194)

(939)

(502)

(255)

4

14

7

10

7

1,112

859

756

(253)

103

40

383

59

343

324

(24,818)

(25,946)

(23,195)

(1,128)

(2,751)

Variance
Statement of Cash Flows

note

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Holding account drawdown
Net cash provided by State Government
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employees benefits
Supplies and services
Finance costs
Accommodation
GST payments on purchases
Other payments

7

Receipts
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Original
budget 2020

Actual
2020

Actual
2019

Variance between
estimate and
actual

Variance between
actual results for
2020 and 2019

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

(1,700)

(912)

(622)

788

(290)

-

1

13

1

(12)

(1,700)

(911)

(609)

789

(302)

Principal elements of lease payments

(958)

(256)

-

702

(256)

Net cash used in financing activities

(958)

(256)

-

702

(256)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(178)

170

3,265

348

(3,095)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period

5,642

9,087

5,822

3,445

3,265

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD

5,464

9,257

9,087

3,793

170

Variance
Statement of Cash Flows

note

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments

The ‘Original Budget 2020’ presented in this explanatory statement (note 8.10) is the budget appropriated to the Commission as part of the 2019-20 Budget process
and contained in the 2019-20 Budget Papers. It does not incorporate adjustments made to the Commission’s appropriation throughout the 2019-20 financial year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
8.10 Explanatory statement (continued)
Major variance narratives
Variances between estimate and actual

Statement of Comprehensive Income
1. E mployee benefits expense were lower than budget by $1.3 million (7%)
largely due to vacancies and delays in filling positions during the year.
2. S upplies and services were higher than the budget by $1.9 million (65%)
mainly due to an increase in the workers’ compensation insurance
premium, costs incurred to facilitate remote working and a number of
costs being paid for as a supply and service rather than an asset purchase
resulting in higher expenses.
3. D
 epreciation and amortisation expense were lower than the budget by
$1.8 million (51%) largely as of revised methodology issued by the
Department of Treasury in late 2019-20 to account for the Commission’s
head office lease as expenses rather than a lease in accordance with the
AASB 16 leasing standard.
4. F inance costs were lower than budget by $0.9 million (98%) and
accommodation expenses was higher than budget by $1.3m (112%) mainly
as a result of revised methodology issued by the Department of Treasury late
2019-20 to account for the Commission’s head office lease as expenses rather
than as depreciation in accordance with the AASB 16 leasing standard.

Statement of Financial Position
5. A
 mounts receivable for services was lower than budget by $2.5 million (14%),
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities was lower than budget by $18.4 million
(98%) and contributed equity was lower than budget by $1.8 million as a result
of the revised methodology implemented by the Department of Treasury for
the Commission’s head office accommodation leases and not to treat them in
accordance with the AASB 16 leasing standard.

Statement of Cash Flows
6. Supplies and services payments were higher than the budget by $2.2 million
(77%) mainly due to an increase in the workers’ compensation insurance
premium, costs incurred to facilitate remote working and a number of costs
being paid for as a supply and service rather than an asset purchase resulting
in higher payments.
7. Accommodation payments was higher than budget by $1.2 million (108%) due
to the revised methodology implemented by the Department of Treasury for
the Commission’s head office accommodation leases and not to treat them in
accordance with the AASB 16 leasing standard.
Variance between actual results for 2020 and 2019

Statement of Comprehensive Income
A. Employee benefits expense were higher than prior year by $2.5 million (16%)
largely due to a reduced vacancy rate during the current year and a reduction
in the actuarial assessment of leave liabilities in prior year in comparison
to 2017-18.

Statement of Cash Flows
B. E mployee benefits payments were higher than prior year by $1.6 million (10%)
largely due to a reduced vacancy rate during the current year.
C. Supplies and service payments were higher by $1.3 million (35%) mainly due to
an increase in the workers’ compensation insurance premium, costs incurred
to facilitate remote working and a number of costs being paid for as a supply
and service rather than an asset purchase resulting in higher payments.
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Key Performance Indicators
Certification of performance indicators
For the year ended 30 June 2020
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records,
are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Corruption and
Crime Commission’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the
Corruption and Crime Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

Scott Ellis
ACTING COMMISSIONER
18 August 2020

Service One:
Assessing all allegations of serious misconduct received
Effectiveness indicator
Number of allegations received
2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

4,024

4,939

5,051

5,036

4,500

5,743

The Commission receives notifications and reports of suspected serious
misconduct from a number of different sources including members of the public,
public authorities, the Police Commissioner and the Public Sector Commission.
Each of these notifications and reports may contain one or more allegations.
The Commission has responsibility for assessing all allegations of serious
misconduct (which includes all allegations of police misconduct) within the
public sector and ensuring that they are appropriately dealt with either by the
Commission or another public authority.
The Commission can indirectly influence the number of allegations by having
an increased public profile, media attention, increased engagement with
government agencies and increased auditing within public authorities in relation
to specific issues.
In 2019-20, the number of allegations received by the Commission was higher
than the target by 1,243 and higher than the prior year by 707. The higher
number of allegations received in part reflects a bulk notification from the North
Metropolitan Health Service and the high profile cases that the Commission has
been involved with in the last year.

108 | Corruption and Crime Commission Annual Report 2019-20

1

2

Commission
overview

Profile of serious
misconduct

3

Responding to
serious misconduct

4

5

Building
capacity

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

Key Performance Indicators (continued)
Effectiveness indicator
Allegations as a percentage of people employed within public authorities
under the Commission’s jurisdiction
2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

2.12%

2.54%

2.60%

2.57%

2.30%

2.86%

This indicator aims to reflect the percentage of corruption across the public
sector. The indicator is determined by the number of allegations received by the
Commission divided by the number of public sector employees employed across
state and local government.
The 2019-20 percentage is higher than the target and 2018-19 actual result.
This is largely due the higher number of allegations received in the year.

The 2019-20 actual result is slightly better than the target. This is a significant
improvement on the 2018-19 result which was impacted by fewer resources
resulting from a high staff turnover during that year.
Effectiveness indicator
Average cost of assessment
2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

n/a

n/a

n/a

$1,028

$1,428

$720

This key performance indicator was first reported in 2018-19 following a review
of the key performance indicators by the Commission.
The average cost of assessment is determined by the allocation of costs divided
by the number of allegations received.
The 2019-20 result is lower than the target and is related to an increase in the
number of allegations received during the year and a revised costing model that
more accurately calculates the cost of an assessment.

Effectiveness indicator
Percentage of assessments completed within 28 days
2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

n/a

n/a

n/a

55%

80%

84%

This key performance indicator was first reported in 2018-19 following a review
of the key performance indicators by the Commission.
The indicator demonstrates the efficiency of the assessment function by
measuring the percentage of assessments completed within 28 days.
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Key Performance Indicators (continued)
Service Two:
Investigating allegations of serious misconduct

Effectiveness indicators
Number of reports published

Effectiveness indicators
Number of investigations
2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

79

71

62

50

50

59

This key performance indicator was first reported in 2018-19 following a review
of the key performance indicators by the Commission.
The indicator reflects the number of active and completed investigations in a
financial year. The Commission only investigates matters that are serious and
significant and where it believes it can have the most impact in improving the
integrity of the public sector.
The indicator does not include unexplained wealth matters. Legislation was
passed in 2018 to amend the Criminal Property Confiscation Act 2000 and the
CCM Act to grant the Commission powers to investigate, initiate and conduct civil
confiscation proceedings relating to unexplained wealth and criminal benefits.
The Commission is exercising this new function within its current resourcing
levels and will review and evaluate its performance and funding within three
years from conferral.
The higher number of investigations in 2019-20 as compared to the target and
last year’s actual is due to an increase in the number of self-initiated serious
misconduct investigations conducted under section 26 of CCM Act.
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2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

9

8

13

45

40

43

The Commission makes recommendations and publishes reports to Parliament
and to public sector authorities on the outcome of investigations to expose
instances of serious misconduct to enable public authorities to prevent and
combat serious misconduct.
Reports enable the Parliament of Western Australia and the Western Australian
community to be satisfied that allegations of serious misconduct have been dealt
with appropriately.
The Commission takes decisions about releasing information to the public very
seriously and does so only after a determination that the benefits of public
exposure and public awareness outweigh the potential for prejudice and privacy
infringements.
The increase in the number of reports published trend from 2017-18 to 2018-19
is due to a change in the counting rules, with the aim to more accurately reflect
the range of reports the Commission is enabled to produce in accordance with
the CCM Act. Prior to 2017, the Commission only counted reports tabled in
Parliament.
The 2019-20 result is marginally above target and is comparable to the actual
result in 2018-19.
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Key Performance Indicators (continued)
Effectiveness indicator

Effectiveness indicator

Percentage of investigations completed within 12 months

Average time (days) to complete an investigation into serious misconduct

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

2015-16
Actual

2016-17
Actual

2017-18
Actual

2018-19
Actual

2019-20
Target

2019-20
Actual

n/a

n/a

n/a

79%

80%

84%

n/a

n/a

n/a

309

350

241

This indicator aims to demonstrate the timeliness of the investigative function
by the percentage of investigations completed within a 12 month period.
The 2019-20 outcome is comparable to the target and previous year’s actual result.

This indicator reflects the average time to conduct an investigation and is only
calculated when an investigation is closed. Each investigation is different and has
a different degree of complexity.
The 2019-20 result is lower than the target and in part relates to six short
term investigations conducted into the implementation of Commission
recommendations made in previous years. The average time to complete an
investigation is expected to increase in future years when the complex and
lengthy investigations are closed.
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Other disclosures
Capital works

Employment, employee wellbeing and development

The Commission’s Asset Investment Program funding for 2019-20 totals
$1.3 million.

The workforce

The year-end position was underspent by $0.4 million. The underspend largely
relates to the Commission procuring information technology as a supply and
service instead of an asset, therefore, complying with State Government policy
which is changing the way information technology is procured and delivered.
Capital works during 2019-20 included:
• Business Support Systems: Capital works during the year totalled
$0.4 million. The costs largely related to development and upgrade of
the Commission’s corporate systems, including the provision of remote
working facilities.
• Operations Support Equipment: Capital works during the year totalled
$0.3 million. The costs incurred were used to maintain the operational
capacity of the Commission, including the upgrade of infrastructure,
surveillance and communications equipment.
• Office Equipment and Replacement: Capital works during the year totalled
$0.1 million. The costs related to improvements of the Commission’s
premises, particularly the installation of further air-conditioning units.
• Building and Operational Security: Capital works during the year totalled
$0.1 million. The costs largely related to perimeter enhancements and the
provision of a new PA system.

As an integrity agency, the Commission has exceptional powers entrusted to it.
Because of this, Commission employees are subject to a level of scrutiny beyond
that of most other public officers. The Commission’s small team of lawyers,
investigators, intelligence analysts, assessment officers and corporate staff are
dedicated to giving the Western Australian community confidence that public
officers are acting in the public interest and not for self-interest.
Four Commission employees have shared their personal journeys and
experience working at the Commission:

> Play video
Meet Shannon – Senior Investigator

> Play video
Meet Ruhul – Database and
Business Intelligence Analyst
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> Play video
Meet Julie – Lawyer

> Play video
Meet Sam – Acting Senior Assessor
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Summary of employment numbers

Table 15 details the average workforce level for the Commission for 2019-20
(based on quarterly total FTE figures throughout the year) and the approved
workforce level as at 30 June 2020.

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

FTE

Average workforce level for 2019-20

123.6

Approved workforce level as at 30 June 2020

125.0

Employee wellbeing
During the reporting period, the Commission looked at ways to support its
employees by expanding its commitment to mental health and wellbeing.

Table 14: Full-time, part-time and seconded employees
FTE
2018-19

2019-20

114.0

110.0

Part-time contract measured on an FTE basis

7.9

12.1

On secondment to the Commission

6.0

5.0

127.9

127.1

Total FTE

5

Workforce level

Table 14 shows the Commission’s total FTE as at 30 June 2020, which includes the
number of full-time and part-time contracted employees as well as the number
of employees seconded from Western Australian State Government agencies
whose substantive position remains with that agency.

Full-time contract

Building
capacity

Table 15: Approved and average workforce levels

The CCM Act s 179 provides that Commission officers may be appointed for a
period up to five years and are eligible for re-appointment.7

Employment category

4

The Commission’s Employee Assistance Program (EAP) provider offers a
holistic, integrated and preventative wellbeing program. The program provides
professional counselling, employee assistance coaching, wellbeing coaching,
a manager’s ‘hotline’, recruitment and selection psychological testing, an annual
influenza vaccination program, use of force medical assessments, ergonomic
assessments, regular wellbeing check-ins for employees in high-risk positions,
and critical incident response and debriefing. This service is available 24 hours a
day, seven days a week and is accessible to employees and their family members.
Following the fire events during the summer and in the spirit of meaningful
psychological support, the Commission’s EAP provider conducted a Responding to
Traumatic Events Workshop for Commission employees, with all proceeds being
donated to the Red Cross for its Bushfires Appeal.
The Commission also continued its partnership with Lifeline to provide Mental
Health First Aid Training for a further nine Commission employees.
The Commission’s management of employee safety and wellbeing during the
Coronavirus pandemic is outlined in the occupational safety, health and injury
management section of this report.

7 The Commission is not a ‘Senior Executive Service Organisation’ as described in the Public Sector Management Act 1994.
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Employee development
The Commission is committed to supporting its workforce through a broad
range of learning and development programs. The impact of the Coronavirus
pandemic resulted in new and emerging training requirements for managers
and employees, and increased the use of online learning.
In 2019-20, learning and development activities included:
• Core capability training such as Certificate IV in Leadership and
Management, Certificate IV in Government Investigations, Risk Management,
Project Management and Management Essentials;
• Technical/role specific training such as computer forensics, data analysis
and modelling and systems training;
• Compliance training such as Use of Force, Occupational Health and Safety
training, continuing professional development for legal staff and Certified
Practising Accountant maintenance; and
• Scholarship program with nine employees awarded a Commission
Study Scholarship.

Employees completing the Certificate IV in
Leadership and Management.
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The Commission also commenced a series of ‘Executive Conversations.’
This initiative is aimed at sharing personal leadership journeys with the
Commission’s senior management group. For the inaugural session, the
Commission welcomed Putijurra woman, Kate George who was the first
Aboriginal woman admitted to practise law in Western Australia and has been
involved in Aboriginal affairs in the state, national and international arena for
over 40 years. Ms George challenged the team to think about diversity issues
and how the Commission can have a positive impact.
In the second session, the Commissioner of Police, Chris Dawson, gave insight
into the cultural reforms he was leading in the WA Police Force and in particular
how the WA Police Force is building relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait
Islander peoples.

Putijurra woman, Kate George (centre),
Director Legal Services, Wendy Endebrock-Brown
(left) and Chief Executive, Ray Warnes (right).

Commissioner of Police, Chris Dawson speaking with
the Commission’s leadership team.
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Employee perception survey
During 2019-20, the Commission conducted an Employee Perception Survey
designed to capture employees’ views about the working environment,
culture and areas where the experience of working at the Commission could
be improved. The survey was last conducted in 2017, and this year’s results
indicated considerable improvement in many areas.
Highlights from the survey include:
• 94% of employees are satisfied with their current job, up from 80% in 2017;
• 84% of employees are satisfied with the Commission as an employer, up
from 54% in 2017; and
• 80% of employees feel empowered to do their job effectively, up from 64%
in 2017.
The survey results and subsequent focus groups identified further areas
for improvement, and this feedback continues to be a key input into the
Commission’s Strategic Workforce Plan.

Strategic Workforce Plan 2020-2023
During 2019-20, the Commission developed a new, three-year Strategic
Workforce Plan. The purpose of the Plan is to ensure the Commission’s workforce
is dynamically and directly linked to the future direction of the organisation –
having the right people in the right jobs at the right time and at the right cost.
The scope and scale of changes in the modern workplace requires different
thinking about the Commission’s workforce, with many changes driven by factors
including improvements in technology and design. These changes will shape the
way services are delivered and demand new skills, knowledge and attributes
within the workforce.

In this context, the new Strategic Workforce Plan aims to deliver:
• a workforce with the capacity to efficiently and flexibly ensure service
delivery outcomes are met;
• a focused and strategic approach to attracting, engaging, developing and
retaining a suitable workforce and identifying gaps in critical skills;
• integration of workforce planning into business, performance and financial
planning processes with a clear focus on achieving the Commission’s service
delivery outcomes;
•w
 orkforce modelling to understand demand and supply issues; and
• initiatives that address workforce design, size, composition, capability,
current and future skills requirements and talent management.
During 2019-20, the Commission progressed a number of key workforce
initiatives in support of the new Strategic Workforce Plan including:
• r eviewing and improving the Commission’s Scholarship Program;
•d
 eveloping a Learning and Development Strategy for the Commission;
•d
 eveloping a Diversity and Inclusion Plan aligned to the broader public
sector; and
• e xploring and supporting various sourcing strategies aligned to business
needs (for example, hosting incoming graduate officers for short and long
term placements at the Commission).
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Review of Corruption and Crime Commission Industrial Agreement 2013
During the reporting period, a review of the Commission’s industrial agreement
continued in consultation with the Public Sector Labour Relations division of the
Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety. On 21 December 2018, the
Commission became a named respondent to the Government Officers’ Salaries,
Allowances and Conditions General Award 1989.
The Commission’s industrial agreement has historically been a stand-alone
agreement but the replacement agreement will become a satellite agreement
to the Public Service and Government Officers CSA General Agreement 2019.
Where possible, it will rely upon the whole-of-sector provisions and model
clauses, and the unique conditions that are relevant to Commission employees
will be retained with no erosion of benefits. At year-end, negotiations were
continuing and are expected to be finalised during the next reporting period.

Workers’ compensation
There was one new workers’ compensation claim during the reporting period
that was finalised and no other ongoing claims at year-end.
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Unauthorised use of credit cards
In compliance with Treasurer’s Instruction 321 ‘Credit cards – authorised use’,
the Commission is required to report where a Western Australian Government
Purchasing Card (‘credit card’) is used for personal use. Personal use of a
Commission credit card in the 2019-20 reporting period is detailed in Table 16.
Table 16: Personal use of Commission credit card
Personal use

Cost ($)

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure for the
reporting period

194

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled by the
due date (within five working days)

194

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure settled after
the period (after five working days)

-

Aggregate amount of personal use expenditure outstanding at
the balance date

-

Commission employees hold Commission credit cards where their functions
warrant use of this facility. Cardholders are reminded of their obligations under
the Commission’s credit card policy; however, one employee inadvertently used
their credit card for personal use. The Chief Finance Officer did not refer the
matter for disciplinary action as the amount was settled promptly, the nature
of the expenditure was immaterial and the transaction was characteristic of an
honest mistake.
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Governance disclosures

Other legal requirements

Contracts with senior officers

Expenditure on advertising, market research, polling and
direct mail

As at 30 June 2020, there were no matters to report in respect of senior officers
of the Commission concerning any interests they may have in firms, entities or
other bodies that do business with the Commission.

In compliance with the Electoral Act 1907 s 175ZE, the Commission is required to
report on expenditure incurred in relation to advertising agencies and marketing
research, polling (surveys), direct mail and media advertising organisations.
Table 17 details expenditure incurred in relation to those matters in 2019-20.
Table 17: Advertising and polling expenses incurred
Expense type

Cost ($)

Advertising

24,371

Polling

-

Total expenses

24,371

Advertising supplier

Cost ($)

LinkedIn

24,371

Total expenses

24,371

Disability access and inclusion plan outcomes
The Disability Services Act 1993 does not require the Commission to develop
and report on a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan. However, the Commission
is keen to have diversity and inclusion principles embedded in its core business
functions. In 2019-20, the Commission began developing an integrated Diversity
and Inclusion Plan, which will support equal access to, and involvement and
participation in, Commission services and activities. The Commission’s work in
this area will also support and align to the broader public sector’s collaborative
effort to improve employment outcomes for identified diversity groups.
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Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes
Public sector standards
During 2019-20, the Commission received one breach of standard claim against
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management. The finding from
the assessment of this claim was that the standard had not been breached.
There were no formal disciplinary processes conducted and the Commission
received no formal grievances during the reporting period.

WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and the Commission’s Code of Conduct
The Commission’s Code of Conduct is regularly reviewed to ensure alignment
with the Public Sector Commissioner’s Guidelines (specifically Commissioner’s
Instructions No 7 Code of Ethics and No 8 Codes of Conduct and Integrity
Training), the Commission’s Strategic Plan 2019-24, and its policies and
procedures.
All employees are required to read and sign a declaration of commitment to the
Code of Conduct upon commencement of employment at the Commission.
Employees are also required to participate annually in Accountable and Ethical
Decision-Making (AEDM) training. This training module is regularly reviewed to
ensure alignment with the Code of Conduct and related policies. In 2019-20, 130
employees (96% completion rate) completed the AEDM online training module.

Recordkeeping plans
In compliance with the State Records Act 2000 s 19 and with State Records
Commission Standard 2, Principle 6, the Commission has an approved
Recordkeeping Plan. Part 3, Division 4 of the State Records Act 2000 states that
an agency must review its Plan every five years or when significant change occurs
to the agency’s functions. In 2019-20, the Commission completed an extensive
update of its Recordkeeping Plan, which was approved by the State Records
Commission on 12 December 2019.
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Evaluation of recordkeeping systems
The Commission continued to monitor the performance of the Electronic
Document and Records Management System (EDRMS), Objective and the Case
Management Intelligence System, Jade Investigator with a view to drive digital
business transformation initiatives and achieve recordkeeping compliance.
During the reporting period, a number of enhancements to the systems were
implemented including the automation of a number of key business processes
to improve information management creation, capture and compliance.
An optimisation of the Objective file structure and search functionality for a
number of business units was implemented, to improve the ability to create,
find and use information effectively.

Recordkeeping training
Recordkeeping training is given to all employees and comprises group
presentations, online awareness modules, ad hoc workshops and one-to-one
training.
All employees attend a mandatory recordkeeping briefing as part of their
induction, which addresses individual roles and responsibilities in regard to
compliance with the Recordkeeping Plan. Employees are also required to attend
EDRMS basics training (either one-to-one or in groups) and to complete and pass
an online recordkeeping compliance and awareness module. Employees must
complete this online recordkeeping module annually.
In 2019-20:
• 132 employees (97% completion rate) completed the online recordkeeping
compliance and awareness module;
• 22 employees attended face-to-face 1:1 Objective training; and
• 119 employees attended face-to-face group Objective training and
information sessions.
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The Commission is committed to continually improving its information
and records management practices to meet business needs and legislative
responsibilities. Additional achievements and initiatives during 2019-20
included the:
• review and update of the Commission’s Information Security Classification
Framework;
• development of a three-year Information and Knowledge Management
Strategy; and
• review and ongoing update to the Information and Knowledge Management
policy and procedure framework.

CCM Act reporting requirements
Under CCM Act s 91(2)(f) and (g), the Commission must report on the number
of exceptional powers findings made and the number of fortification warning
notices issued by the Commission under CCM Act ss 46 and 68 respectively.
During 2019-20, the Commission made no exceptional powers findings and
issued no fortification warning notices.
The Commission’s capacity to influence the incidence of organised crime is
limited to approving the use of exceptional powers and issuing fortification
warning notices. Both depend on an application made by the Commissioner
of Police. To maintain impartiality and independence, the Commission does
not assist in the application process.
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Government policy requirements
Occupational safety, health and injury management
The Commission is committed to providing a safe working environment in
accordance with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. The Commission’s
Executive leads this commitment.
The Commission has an Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Policy that
is available to employees. Employees receive training regarding their OSH
obligations as part of their induction, with managers receiving additional training
on their managerial OSH responsibilities. Employees are required to repeat this
training annually.
The Commission’s Occupational Safety and Health Planning Advisory Group
(OSHPAG) coordinates and monitors the OSH program and ensures consultation
on OSH-related matters. OSHPAG reports to the Commission Executive and
is chaired by a senior employee. It includes a member of the Executive and
a representative from each directorate. OSHPAG meets quarterly and when
required to address specific OSH-related matters. Safety inspections of the
workplace are conducted monthly. Each Commission OSH representative has
undertaken WorkSafe-accredited training.
Ongoing monitoring and review is intrinsic to managing OSH matters and
reflects the Commission Executive’s commitment to continuous improvement.
During 2019-20, the Commission conducted a full review of its OSH management
framework in collaboration with an accredited external subject matter
expert. This review identified opportunities to improve the Commission’s OSH
Management System, which will be actioned in 2020-21.
The Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic created a challenging and dynamic
environment for managing OSH. The Commission’s OSH infrastructure responded
effectively. Hygiene supplies and services, along with PPE stocks, were sourced
early. Dedicated response personnel were identified and specific communication
pathways established. The OSHPAG convened more regularly to ensure timely
and accurate two-way communication. Risk assessments were conducted and
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control measures expedited. A working-from-home arrangement was rapidly
implemented as well as enhanced control measures for employees remaining on
site. An ongoing communication strategy ensured a robust link between those
isolated at home and their colleagues.

5

Building
capacity

Unexplained
wealth function

6

Disclosures and
legal compliance

support to all workers who sustain a work-related injury or illness. The focus
is on a safe and early return to meaningful work, in accordance with the
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. Table 18 shows
the Commission’s performance against targets specified in the Public Sector
Commissioner’s Circular 2018-03: Code of Practice Occupational Safety and
Health in the Western Australian public sector.

Through its policy position on workers’ compensation claims and injury
management, the Commission is committed to providing injury management

Table 18: Occupational safety and health incidents
Actual results
Measures

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

-

-

-

1.64

-

0.75

-

-

-

(i) within 13 weeks

100%

N/A

100%

Greater than or equal to 80%

(ii) within 26 weeks

100%

N/A

100%

Greater than or equal to 80%

100%

100%

93%

Greater than or equal to 80%

Number of fatalities
Lost time injury and disease incidence rate (per 100)
Lost time injury and disease severity rate (per 100)

Targets
0
0 or 10% reduction in incidence rate
0 or 10% reduction in severity rate

Percentage of injured workers returned to work

Percentage of managers trained in occupational
safety, health and injury management responsibilities
(including refresher training within three years)
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Key terms:
The following are simple explanations of key terms used throughout this report.
These terms are defined further in the CCM Act, or other relevant legislation.

Appropriate authority is a public authority with the power to take investigatory
or other action (or both) in response to misconduct.
Independent agency means the Auditor General, Director of Public
Prosecutions, Public Sector Commissioner, Parliamentary Commissioner (more
commonly known as the Ombudsman) and the Inspector of Custodial Services.
Public authorities include Western Australian State Government departments,
the WA Police Force, local governments, tertiary bodies, port authorities and
some boards.

Public officers include all public sector employees, police officers, prison officers
(including privately operated prisons), members of parliament, members of
government boards and committees, local government elected officials and
employees, employees of public universities, employees of public utilities and
some volunteers.
Senior public officers include chief executives, senior executives, commissioned
police officers, and superintendents and officers who hold senior roles and work
within Corrective Services in the Department of Justice.

Serious misconduct is different for the WA Police Force than for other public
officers.
For the WA Police Force, serious misconduct includes all police misconduct –
that is, all types of misconduct described in CCM Act s 4 as well as additional
conduct described as ‘reviewable police action’.
For all other public officers, serious misconduct refers only to corrupt or criminal
conduct described in CCM Act s 4(a)-(c), which occurs when a public officer:
• acts corruptly or corruptly fails to act in the course of their duties; or
• corruptly takes advantage of their position for the benefit or detriment of
him or herself or any person; or
• commits an offence, while acting or purporting to act in his or her official
capacity, which carries a penalty of two or more years imprisonment.
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